

# KNOWLEDGE TRANSFER IN THE CHINESE AUTOMOTIVE INDUSTRY

Department of Business Administration International Business Bachelor thesis Spring 2014 David Göthensten 890128 Carl Persson 890216

Tutor: Ramsin Yakob

Abstract

The automotive industry has been subject to a turbulent shift in the last decades as its markets,

production and focus has shifted its center of gravity towards the East, specifically to China.

When Western automotive companies seek to establish themselves on the Chinese automotive

market they have been forced to engage in joint ventures with Chinese counterparts. As the

motivation for the Chinese partners is to accumulate knowledge, experience and competencies

from their mature and sophisticated Western partners, the Western partners are faced with the

difficult process of transferring competencies and knowledge that have been accumulated over

long periods of time and which can be tacit or hard to codify. The question of how to transfer

knowledge and competencies successfully to their Chinese joint venture subsidiaries therefore

becomes evident.

Our aim with this thesis was to identify how Western multinational corporations can upgrade

the competencies of their joint venture subsidiaries in China through the transfer of knowledge.

We engaged in research of empirical data concerning both the problems faced by the Chinese

automotive industry as well as the study of how Western parent firms successfully can transfer

knowledge and competencies to their Chinese joint venture subsidiaries. The empirical data

consisted of both secondary data as well as primary data collected through interviews. We

formulated our hypothesis on the analysis of our empirical data and a theoretical framework on

knowledge transfer.

Our study shows that the Western automotive parent firms should focus on knowledge transfer

associated to the establishment of new organizational structures and managerial principles.

Most of the problems faced by the Chinese automotive industry derives from difficulties of

retaining skilled personnel, which makes competence building hard, and that the Chinese

organizations are not knowledge sharing, accumulating and creating organizations, which

deprives them of innovativeness and development. By creating knowledge orientated

organizations, not only will the Chinese subsidiaries be able to absorb competencies associated

directly to the faced issues but it will also facilitate any future knowledge transfer between the

organizations.

**Keywords**: Knowledge transfer, Competences, Automotive industry, MNC's, China, Joint Venture

1

Acknowledgements
Firstly we would like to direct a special thanks to Martina Klaus (Volvo Group) who have invested so much time and effort to help us. We truly appreciate all her assistance.
Furthermore we would like to extend our sincere thanks to our two interviewees Mats Ahlin, Jan Garp & Dan Paulin for the valuable insights and knowledge they provided us with.
Finally, we would also like to thank our tutor Ramsin Yakob for his guidance, aid and support.
School of Business, Economics and Law at the University of Gothenburg, May 2014

David Göthensten Carl Persson

#### **Definitions**

## Competence

"The capacity of an individual (or a collective) to successfully (according to certain formal or informal criteria, set by oneself or by somebody else) handle certain situations or complete a certain task or job. This capacity may be defined in terms of: perceptual motor skills (e.g. dexterity); cognitive factors (different types of knowledge and intellectual skills); affective factors (e.g. attitudes, values, motivations); personality traits (e.g. self-confidence); and social skills (e.g. communicative and cooperative skills)" (Ellström, Henrik, 2008).

## Knowledge

"Facts, information, and skills acquired through experience or education; the theoretical or practical understanding of a subject" (Oxford Dictionary, 2014).

#### Joint Venture (Subsidiary)

"An entity comprising of two or more firms which have brought together their resources in a single common legal organization" (Kogut, 1988). In this thesis the term subsidiary or joint venture subsidiary is also used to describe the joint venture organization.

#### Parent firm

"Firm that owns or controls other firms (called subsidiaries) which are legal entities in their own right" (Business Dictionary, 2014).

# Table of Contents

1. Introduction	1
1.1 Background	1
1.2 Problem Discussion	2
1.3 Research Question	4
1.4 Purpose	4
1.5 Limitations	4
1.6 Outline of the Thesis	5
2. Theoretical Framework	7
2.1Why Knowledge Transfer to a Joint Venture Subsidiary is Beneficial	7
2.2 How to Transfer Knowledge	8
2.2.1. Absorptive Capacity	8
2.2.2 Collaboration Aspects between Joint Venture Partners	11
2.2.3 Means of Transferring Knowledge	12
2.2.3.1 Expatriates	13
2.2.3.2 Collective Teaching	15
2.3 Disadvantages of Knowledge Transfer	16
2.4 Summary of the Theoretical Framework	17
3. Methodology	18
3.1 Research Method	18
3.2 Research Approach	18
3.3 Case Approach	19
3.3.1 Company Selection	20
3.4 Data Collection	20
3.4.1 Primary Data	21
3.4.1.1 Approach and Choice of Interviewees	21
3.4.2 Secondary Data	22
3.4.3 Data Analysis	22
3.4.4 Presentation of the Data	23
3.5 Validity and Reliability	24
3.6 Critique	24
4.1 Empirical Findings Concerning the Chinese Automotive Industry	26
4.1.1 A General Overview of the Chinese Automotive Industry	26
4.1.2 The Human Capital	27
4.1.3 Organizational Structure and Managerial Principles	30
4.1.4 Product and Process Competitiveness	34
4.1.5 Responding to Stricter Emission Regulations	35

4.2 Empirical Findings Concerning Knowledge Transfer	37
4.2.1 Benefits of Knowledge Transfer	37
4.2.2 How to Transfer Knowledge	37
4.2.2.1 Absorptive Capacity	37
4.2.2.2 Collaboration between the Joint Venture Partners	39
4.2.2.3 Means of Transferring Knowledge - Expatriates	40
4.2.2.4 Means of Transferring knowledge - Collective Teaching	43
4.2.3 Disadvantages of Knowledge Transfer	44
5. Analysis	45
5.1 Analysis of the Chinese Automotive Industry	45
5.2 Analysis of Knowledge Transfer	48
5.2.1 Benefits of Knowledge Transfer	48
5.2.2 Absorptive Capacity	48
5.2.3 Collaboration Aspects	50
5.2.4 Means of Transfer	50
5.2.5 Disadvantages of Knowledge Transfer	52
6. Conclusions	53
6.1 A Conclusion of the Two Research Questions	53
6.1.1 Which Knowledge Should Be Transferred	53
6.1.2 – How to Successfully Transfer Knowledge	55
6.2 Contributions	57
6.3 Suggestions for Future Research	57
7. References	58
7.1 List of Works Cited	58
7.2 Interviews	69
8. Appendix	70
Interview questions:	70

# 1. Introduction

# 1.1 Background

The global economy's ever shifting center of gravity from the West towards the East in recent decades has had tremendous impact on the strategies of companies. This new center of gravity is highly evident for the automotive sector, as Asia and more specifically China has become the world's largest automotive market, overtaking the American and European markets (Tita, 2013), (Ying, 2010). In the report "The Eight Overarching China Automotive Trends That Are Revolutionizing the Auto Industry", the authors stated:

"We believe that recent events signal the early stages of an economic revolution: a shift of the global center of gravity of economic strength towards the east, which will result in profound changes in numerous industries. As an economic bellwether, the automotive industry captures a great deal of interest" (Russo, et al. 2009).

Any automotive company not incorporating China as a top priority in their market strategy will miss out on immense opportunities for growth and profit. With over 1.3 billion inhabitants (The World Bank, 2014), strong economic growth and high consumer demand (Shen, Shirouzu, 2014), the Chinese automotive industry is most likely to take over the position as the main focus market for all global automotive companies, a change that most probably already have taken place.

Automotive multinational corporations (MNC's) who have been seeking to establish themselves on the Chinese market have been restricted to engage in joint ventures with Chinese counterparts, as the Chinese government have expected this occurrence to lead to a transfer of knowledge and competences from the Western firms to the Chinese subsidiaries (Lin, Zhiyong, 2014). However, due to the mentioned promise of the market, the Western automotive firms have accepted this responsibility in order to gain access to the market (Balcet, 2014). Consequently the strategies of both the partner firms are to reach growth and profit.

Learning, knowledge acquisition and adaptation to changing market environments are therefore important rationales for the creating of international joint ventures (Lyles, Salk, 1996).

## 1.2 Problem Discussion

The Chinese automotive companies are, compared to their Western and Japanese counterparts, still immature in terms of competitive competences and it is expected that time will be needed before they are able to catch up. In an effort to upgrade their competences the Chinese automotive companies are seeking collaboration with Western MNC's (Ban, et al. 2005), (Yan, 2011).

Earlier studies have shown that Chinese companies seeking joint ventures with Western firms have been motivated by the desire to acquire management expertise and technology (Yan, 2000). Western firms on the other hand seek these joint ventures to gain access to the fast growing and emerging market of China, where the local knowledge and skill of the local manufacturers facilitate in the process of capturing market shares (Balcet, 2014).

While discussions of policy changes are taking place, Western automotive manufacturers seeking to establish themselves on the Chinese automotive market are still obligated to engage in joint ventures, due to rigid legislations on a tightly regulated market and extensive bureaucracy (Lin, Zhiyong, 2014).

As mentioned in the beginning statement, the Chinese automotive companies are still lagging behind their Western counterparts in numerous areas and these issues need to be responded to, in order to be competitive in the 21th century. Examples are, the necessity to decrease the fuel and electricity consumption in the production processes (China.cn, 2011), to reduce the exhaust emission of the vehicles they produce (Kalmbach, Landmann, 2011), (Ban, et al. 2005), to upgrade quality (Wang, Liao, Hein, 2012), and to decrease staff turnover (Eloot, Strube, Wang, n.d), (Yangpeng, 2013).

These issues need to be responded to since the earlier competitive advantages of cheap production (China.cn, 2011) and modest demands put on safety, quality and emissions are beginning to change and will continue to do so in the years to come (Wang, Liao, Hein, 2012), (Kalmbach, Landmann, 2011). Also, competences associated to solving these problems need to be acquired due to stricter legislation on the domestic market and also in order to capture growing markets worldwide and to gain entrance to the more mature and demanding markets of the US, Europe and Japan (Wang, Liao, Hein, 2012), (Kalmbach, Landmann, 2011).

Legislations, restrictions or characteristics of a market, such as the ones concerning environmental standards also need to be taken into account as they affect the profit and growth strategies of the joint venture.

Highlighted by this discussion, it is important that automotive manufacturers redefine their business models for the realities of the 21st century competition and acknowledge that going global is not a simple transplant of the current business model to a foreign location (Russo, et al 2009).

Consequently, associated to the problems faced by the manufacturers in the Chinese automotive industry, multiple questions arise about how to best manage the cooperation between the involved partners in a joint venture, in order to reach desired outcomes and mutual prosperity. More specifically questions arise concerning organizational structures and practices. When two partners form new joint ventures, questions concerning which managerial and operational practices that should be replicated onto the new entity for most successful effect will be evident. This can serve as stumbling-block for the cooperation as each partner usually perceives their operation method as the superior one (Buckley, Clegg, Tan, 2004).

Knowledge that is transferred from parent firms to the joint venture can be used to create and increase the competitive competences of the recipient. Therefore, making use of the knowledge, competences and skills of the foreign parent organization, which usually is situated in sophisticated and competitive markets, can greatly enhance the competitive advantages and performance of a joint venture subsidiary (Lyles, Salk, 1996).

In previous studies on knowledge transfer, most researchers have focused on the process of knowledge transfer, sometimes limiting themselves to one aspect of knowledge transfer (Cohen, Levinthal, 1990), (Inkpen, 1998). Others have attempted to make more comprehensive investigations, involving several aspects of knowledge transfer (Minbaeva, 2007), (Buckley, Clegg, Tan, 2004) (Szulanski, 2000). Also, some researchers have investigated how Western parent firms can transfer knowledge to the Chinese automotive subsidiaries, but have limited themselves to the study of certain specific mechanisms and processes (Buckley, Clegg, Tan, 2006), (Zhao, Anand, 2009), where the research has been relatively limited in providing an understanding of the interdependent mechanisms mutual effect on knowledge transfer, associated to the identified problems of the subsidiary organizations.

It is against this background that we believe that an investigation should be conducted of how Western automotive manufacturing MNC's, in their joint ventures with Chinese partners, can make use of knowledge transfer, to enhance the two partner's mutual collaboration subsidiary in the best way. More specifically it should investigate how the Western MNC's can be of assistance to the subsidiary in the pursuit of upgrading its competences to a globally competitive level and in improving the operations of the subsidiary through the transferring of organizational competences and knowledge that can remedy acknowledged problems.

# 1.3 Research Question

"How can Western automotive MNC's upgrade the competences of their joint venture subsidiaries in China through the transfer of knowledge?"

This research question will be answered through the analysis of two underlying questions.

- 1) What are the most significant problems the Chinese automotive industry faces, the competencies it lacks and which specific knowledge should be shared from the Western MNC's in order to upgrade their competencies?
- 2) How to successfully transfer knowledge between organizations in a joint venture?

# 1.4 Purpose

The purpose is to provide a comprehensive analysis of the major problems faced by joint venture subsidiaries in the Chinese automotive industry. As well as how Western joint venture partners can transfer knowledge to their joint venture subsidiaries in China successfully as a way to upgrade competences associated to the problems.

#### 1.5 Limitations

We will not try to measure the success of knowledge transfer within this thesis. Furthermore we will not take governmental interference and regulations into account.

In this thesis we will present necessary strategies that both the Western firms and the Chinese subsidiaries will have to take to succeed in the ambition of upgrading the competences of the Chinese subsidiaries. However, we will not engage in discussions with the Chinese organizations. Thus, the study is limited to a Western parenting firm perspective and we will focus our case study on solely one company.

In our thesis we identify the most stressing problems faced by the Chinese automotive organizations that their Western partners should help in remedy. We also account for how the Western firms successfully can transfer the best practices, competences and knowledge to remedy these problems. However we do not try to analyze the best solution to every problem since this would be a too extensive topic and since this is a very subjective opinion for each individual company.

# 1.6 Outline of the Thesis

#### Introduction

The introduction will consist of a brief background to the problem followed by a problem discussion. We will then present our research questions and its two underlying questions. Finally, this will be followed an explanation of the purpose of thesis and the limitations of it.

#### **Theoretical Framework**

In chapter two we bring forth a relevant theoretical framework for the mechanisms and processes of knowledge transfer and how to succeed with it. We later apply this theoretical framework to answer our research question in collaboration with our empirical findings.

#### Methodology

In chapter three we will present the methodological approach used to conduct this paper. It includes a motivation for our choice of method and approach.

#### **Empirical data**

The fourth chapter will present the results of our second and primary data findings that are connected to our two underlying questions.

The first part of the chapter will be dedicated to empirical evidence concerning our first underlying question which concerns the most significant problems for organizations in the Chinese automotive industry, the competences they lack and what specific knowledge sharing from the Western MNC's that can help in upgrading their competences.

The second part of the chapter will be dedicated to empirical evidence concerning our second underlying question of how to succeed with knowledge transfer between organizations in a joint venture.

For a comprehensible setup of the reading and clarity for the reader, both primary and secondary data will be brought together to answer the two underlying questions and will not be presented in different parts.

#### **Analysis**

In the fifth chapter there will be an analysis based on the empirical data as well as the applicable theoretical framework. Our analysis will be divided into two sections for clarity.

A first one that seeks to analyze the problems of the Chinese automotive industry and discuss solutions to the perceived problems. For this analysis there is no applicable theoretical framework. The second one will then be an analysis of how to successfully transfer knowledge.

#### Conclusion

The sixth and last chapter will present the conclusions that can be drawn from this study by using the two analyses together. The main findings and discussion will be summarized with the aim to answer the research question and purpose.

# 2. Theoretical Framework

# 2.1 Why Knowledge Transfer to a Joint Venture Subsidiary is Beneficial

According to Kogut (1988) A joint venture is an entity comprising of two or more firms which have brought together their resources in a single common legal organization, where one of the most important reasons for forming a joint venture is to share knowledge between partners (Kogut, 1988). According to the knowledge based view, knowledge has a major impact on the competitiveness of firms (Kogut, Zander, 1992). As an entity between two partners with aligning goals, a joint venture provides the structure needed for the sharing of knowledge (Yan, 2000). Joint ventures can be a significant source of knowledge, with a potential major learning payoff for the partners involved, especially when bringing together firms with unique skills and competences. When joint ventures are being managed properly through the gain of valuable insights, tangible improvements can be achieved (Inkpen, 1998).

Joint ventures provide a platform for parent organizations to access each other's resources and competences (Kandemir, Hult, 2005). According to Szulanski (1996), the identification and transfer of best practices within a firm has emerged as one of the most important and widespread practical management strategies. The transfer of best practice cover the organization's replication of internal practices that is performed in superior ways in other parts of the organization and which can be deemed superior to alternate practices both internally and outside the company. The aspect of practice is combined of organizations routine use of knowledge, the tacit knowledge carried by individuals and collaborative arrangements in the organization (Szulanski, 1996), (Kogut, Zander, 1992). A transfer of best practices takes place when a need and the knowledge to remedy the need both exist within an organization. The discovery of the need may then trigger a search for potential solutions which can lead to the discovery and implementation of superior practices (Szulanski, 1996).

Furthermore the knowledge acquired from foreign parents can take root in the joint venture organization and create new knowledge that is useful in the joint venture context, where higher acquisition of knowledge is expected to lead to higher performance (Lyles, Salk, 1996) and where the success of joint ventures is said to be highly dependent on assets such as technology

and management expertise, which often are more important than pure financial assets (Yan, 2000).

Knowledge that is transferred from parent firms to the joint venture can be used to create and increase the competitive competences of the recipient. Therefore, making use of the knowledge, competences and skills of the foreign parent organization, which usually is situated in sophisticated and competitive markets can greatly enhance the competitive advantages and performance of a joint venture (Lyles, Salk, 1996), where knowledge transfer can also play a vital part in the innovativeness of firms. Innovativeness give organizations competitive advantages which enables them to survive and grow (Kandemir, Hult, 2005). For some companies knowledge accounts for a great part of value added, where the transfer of knowledge across boundaries has become an important competitive advantage in the new millennium (Fink, Holden, 2005), some even regard knowledge transfer to be of such paramount importance that it is key to whether or not a subsidiary survives in a foreign market (Buckley, Clegg, Tan, 2004).

# 2.2 How to Transfer Knowledge

The effective operation of global firms calls for coordination between corporate units. The enablement of straightforward information flows is of major benefit to companies, where performance of units within firms are improved through the transfer of knowledge (Argote, 2013). Knowledge is embodied by the customs in an organization and their beliefs (Buckley, Clegg, Tan, 2004). However transferring of knowledge is a complicated venture, where the transferring of technology within the same firm in one third of cases was discontinued after failing (Argote, 2013). Knowledge holds the feature that it is embedded (Cummings, Teng, 2003), where it can be embedded in people, technology, tools or routines (Argote, 2013).

## 2.2.1. Absorptive Capacity

One of the factors that are important for a firm or a subsidiary is the competence to recognize new information, to assimilate it and apply it to commercial purposes. This ability for a firm is called absorptive capacity (Cohen, Levinthal, 1990). The absorptive capacity of an organization will rely on the absorptive capacity of its individual members and it is developed through a

cumulative process (Cohen, Levinthal, 1990), where the quality of the staff assigned to joint ventures will affect knowledge transfer. Also limitations in the number of personnel being able to engage in knowledge transfer will set boundaries for knowledge transfer, where the dedicated resources shape the firms absorptive capacity (Simonin, 1999). However the absorptive capacity of an organization is not the mere sum of the capacity of its members, but it is also dependent on the attributes of the organization itself, where characteristics of the firm such as the communication structures between the firm and the external environment and between different parts of the firm have a strong impact on the absorptive capacity of the organization (Cohen, Levinthal, 1990), when inapt information processing and communication competences are limiting knowledge transfer (Simonin, 1999). There are ways for companies to enhance the absorptive capacity of their subsidiaries and thereby ease the knowledge transfer. Investment in increasing absorptive capacity is for example training in employee language or functional skills (Buckley, Clegg, Tan, 2004).

The efficiency of knowledge transfer is not alone dependent on the abilities of the recipient, but rather on the joint character of both the contributor of knowledge as well as the recipient (Buckley, Clegg, Tan, 2004). If the structure of the different corporate units is very different, the recipient of information will have difficulties to incorporate the knowledge (Buckley, Clegg, Tan, 2004). A subsidiary's absorptive capacity can also be affected by its management structure, where subsidiaries with a great proportion of local nationals have a lower absorptive capacity for incoming knowledge. This is mainly due to language barriers (Gupta, Govindarajan, 2000). Since organizational structure and climate strongly affects the absorptive capacity, it also ultimately affects innovativeness. Organizations must be characterized by behaviors that value and promote learning (Kandemir, Hult, 2005).

In their research, Kandemir and Hult (2005) recognize four imperative behavioral orientations that value and promote learning, which are mutually dependent and not independently sufficient. *Team orientation* concerns to which degree top management engage middle- and low-level management in decision making and encourage collaboration and cooperation. For organizational learning to be effective in a joint venture, hierarchy must occasionally be put aside and the joint venture members must think and work together. *System orientation* involves the requirement to understand the interrelationships and systems within a joint venture. *Learning orientation* concerns to which degree top management encourages organizational members to question the organizational norms that control their actions and behaviors.

Organizations that places high value on learning, can improve their ability to understand and change their actions, which enables them to better function in their environment and reach new effects. Finally, *memory orientation* concerns to which degree top management and organizational structures promote communication and distribution of knowledge between members of the organization. Memory orientation within an organization is strongly linked with process innovations, as it allows the organization to accumulate experience over time and allows an increased understanding of process interactions. Due to the ability for organization to store knowledge through memory orientation, improved performance can be achieved through cost and time reduction.

For knowledge absorption to be successful in a joint venture, organizational knowledge concerning *talent management* must also be transferred (Hartmann, Feisel, Schober, 2010). These are managerial principles concerning strategies to attract and retain highly qualified employees, who can be offered higher wages, better job opportunities and better quality of life elsewhere (Hartmann, Feisel, Schober, 2010), (Tung, 2008). Organizational talents should not only be measured by their added value but also by the difficulty involved in replacing them (Lewis, Heckman, 2006). According to Hartmann, Feisel and Schober (2010) talent management should therefore involve the establishment of an organizational culture that supports the identification, codification, retention and development of talented employees. Suggesting that working talent management principles in China are strategies that take personal well-being and personal plans of their employees into account. Examples of this could include career development opportunities, a communication of the organization's brand and strengths, and group-building spirit activities. Long-term strategic talent management is only possible with high employee retention and low turnover rates.

The speed of knowledge transfer between a Western partner and a Chinese partner are dependent on the ability to understand each other. To increase the amount of primary knowledge which can be implemented by the joint venture, communication between the corresponding parties must be direct. Deficiencies in language skills between the individuals communicating would lead to an increased reliance on translation centers. Not being able to effectively communicate with the source of information first hand does not only slow down knowledge transfer but may also diminish the amount of information being transferred and decrease the chances for that the knowledge being implemented at all in the joint venture (Buckley, Clegg, Tan, 2004).

Other measures such as job rotation or moving employees from subsidiaries to headquarters for learning can also improve absorptive capacity (Chang, Gong, Peng, 2012). However the degree of assimilation of information is highly dependent on the characteristics of the information itself. Knowledge which is tangible is more easily passed on than information which is tacit or otherwise hard to understand and information which is codified in documents and software is easier to pass on than competences not codified (Argote, 2013).

## 2.2.2 Collaboration Aspects between Joint Venture Partners

Many of the problems that joint ventures experience can be traced back to issues concerning cultural differences. Both the partner's organizational and national culture has the potential of effecting all aspects of collaboration between the partners (Simonin, 1999). Differences in culture can lead to cultural misunderstandings which stem from cultural differences can be a factor that severely limits knowledge transfer, though this does not necessarily accelerate conflict if managers are adequately prepared (Lyles, Salk, 1996). These cultural and organizational barriers to knowledge transfer can be removed by the joint venture partners by establishing a good inter-partner relationship (Buckley, Clegg, Tan, 2006).

A problematic issue with managing joint venture partnerships is that there can be disparate interests between the partners, something which creates difficult challenges. To create and maintain strategic alignment, when dealing with two corporate entities with separate shareholders and market pressures is a complicated venture. Where considerations such as whether to promote growth or cash flow can demonstrate how different the goals of the two joint venture partners can be (Bamford, Ernst, Fubini, 2004). The different views the partners may have on the prospect of implementing divergent corporate culture is one concern (Buckley, Clegg, Tan, 2004). Such conflicts can drastically reduce knowledge flows from the parents to the joint venture and also send signals to the joint venture employees that can be both negative and conflicting whether or not to use information sent from the foreign joint venture partner (Lyles, Salk, 1996). Conflicts regarding goals can also, dependent on the preference and perceptions of the two partners, result in that investments in research and development and in developing employee training are being put aside, an action which will reduce absorptive capacity and hold back knowledge transfer (Buckley, Clegg, Tan, 2004).

Knowledge transfer is dependent on the abundance of communication channels between the subsidiary and the knowledge source, (Gupta, Govindarajan, 2000) where networking among managers in different units will have a positive impact on the communication between the subsidiary and the headquarters (Ghosal, Korine, Szulanski, 1994).

## 2.2.3 Means of Transferring Knowledge

Knowledge can be transferred to a joint venture in many different fashions, mainly through the transferring of people, technology or routines to the recipient subsidiary or organization, where the transfer of knowledge embedded in processes and organizational practices are more difficult to transfer than technology alone (Argote, 2013).

Knowledge which is embedded in individuals can be transferred to another location by moving these individuals. This is regardless of the nature of the knowledge, tacit or explicit (Allen, 1977). The capacity to restructure information and apply it to different contexts is one of the reasons why individual are such effective carriers of information. More so they are capable of transferring tacit knowledge as well as explicit (Argote, 2013), where the creation and diffusion of tacit knowledge is facilitated by social interaction (Nonaka, Takeuchi, 1995). Individuals with experience have been found to be able to apply their knowledge to related tasks even when they have not been able to articulate their knowledge (Argote, 2013).

Corporate socialization mechanisms, which build interpersonal familiarity and personal affinity between members of different subsidiaries, increases communication flows between subsidiaries and thus eases knowledge transfer. This can be done by sending joint venture managers to the corporate headquarters (Gupta, Govindarajan, 2000).

Another mechanism for moving knowledge is electronic tools, such as e-mail, information systems, e-learning etc. Where the use of information tools has been found to facilitate knowledge transfer (Argote, 2013). These modern tools facilitate the transfer of both tacit and explicit knowledge where the individual knowledge of many, easily can be composed in one place, accessible for members of the organization independent of location (Argote, 2013). However it has been suggested that face-to-face communication still is the superior mode of interaction (Athanassiou, Nigh, 2000).

#### 2.2.3.1 Expatriates

Modern technology have facilitated the connection between people spread across the globe, and is indeed a very important tool in knowledge transfer (Argote, 2013). However, the use of expatriates is viewed as the most important way of transferring knowledge from headquarters to joint ventures in order to increase the performance of the joint venture (Chang, Gong, Peng, 2012). This significance being given because of the expatriates' ability to assimilate and teach often complex information (Chang, Smale, 2013). However, arbitrary deployment of expatriates into subsidiaries is not to be recommended when considering the importance of how critical the competences of the individual expatriate is for the success of knowledge transfer (Chang, Gong, Peng, 2012).

Expatriates have the benefit of understanding the knowledge that the parent company want to transfer as well as have the necessary skills needed to utilize this knowledge. However having knowledge tied to an individual creates difficulties in the transfer of the same. A reason for this is that tacit knowledge is personal and built from the experience of an individual and subsequently hard to codify. It is also embedded in action and in individual commitment tied to a particular context. The transfer of this knowledge is highly dependent on the skills of the expatriate and this person's motivation and the opportunity this individual have of transferring it. In some cases the expatriate is chosen on the basis of this person's technical abilities, which could be someone who might not have the abilities needed in order to successfully and efficiently share their knowledge. Something which is particularly complicated when the knowledge is embedded in personal experience or when the goal is to transform the mind-sets of the employees of the subsidiary (Chang, Gong, Peng, 2012).

The role as expatriate demands a wide range of skills which ranges from everything from communicational ability, conflict resolution as well as the ability to function in a new cultural setting (Chang, Gong, Peng, 2012). The challenges for a Western expatriate manager in a joint venture in China could be extraordinary. In order to facilitate the experience cross-cultural training could be a helpful measure (Selmer, 2005) For the expatriate it is important to have the ability not only to overcome the language barrier, but also to understand how different values and learning styles associated with the new cultural context affects the transfer of knowledge to the joint venture (Chang, Gong, Peng, 2012), something which can be described as the expatriates *Cultural Awareness* (Darby, 1995). Failure of understanding the local culture and

social context could damage the relationship between the foreign and local executives (Selmer, 2005). If the expatriate can deal with these difficulties effectively, the transfer of knowledge to the subsidiary will increase (Chang, Gong, Peng, 2012).

The extent to which the expatriate interact with local employees can be of critical importance for the success of knowledge transfer, something which effectively occurs when social ties are established between the expatriate and the recipient. For instance the transfer of tacit knowledge requires extensive interaction (Chang, Gong, Peng, 2012). It is however suggested that knowledge and skill transfer most frequently occurs as a result of daily interaction at the operational level, not at top management level (Yan, 2000) where expatriates often are placed within the subsidiary (Tian, 2007).

The expatriate also need to strengthen ties with the office at home in order to create the ties between the offices in order to aid the building of a contact network, and thus assist the transfer or knowledge (Chang, Gong, Peng, 2012). The extensive use of expatriates, where all or most key positions within the subsidiary are occupied by expatriates can have several drawbacks for the company. For instance it could lead to a concept which is called *cultural myopia* where management fails to understand the host country environment and culture, which takes time to learn and during the meantime could provide dire results (Chang, Gong, Peng, 2012). Transfer of organizational expertise is highly dependent on the people involved and attempts to transfer this knowledge could be counterproductive if the people assigned with the tasks are not qualified to deal with cross-cultural issues (Fink, Holden, 2005).

Furthermore filling every key position within the subsidiary may cause resentment among local employees, whose career opportunities within the company are being heavily reduced. This could lead problems with retention of competent personnel, besides being a costly strategy where the cost of expatriates being multiple the cost of local managers (Tian, 2007).

However knowledge transfer always has to be studied with the consideration of the absorptive capacity of the subsidiary in mind. More knowledge can be transferred from the expatriate and received by the subsidiary if the absorptive capacity of the subsidiary is greater, something which will improve the performance of the same. Literature also suggest that the greater the absorptive capacity of a subsidiary the greater the extent of expatriate knowledge transfer

behavior, where high absorptive capacity of the subsidiary could serve as a motivation for the expatriate (Chang, Gong, Peng, 2012).

#### 2.2.3.2 Collective Teaching

Organizations themselves can be depositories of knowledge where some memory and experience are accumulated and maintained within the routines of the organization, regardless of the passage of time or employee turnover (Levitt, March, 1988). When joint venture parents transfer organizational competences to the joint venture subsidiary, they transfer more than mere individually held skills. They also transfer knowledge which is embedded in the organization itself. This knowledge which is collective is embedded in the minds of the members of the organization, regarding how to coordinate, share, distribute and recombine knowledge (Zhao, Anand, 2009). According to Kogut and Zander (1992) collective knowledge is more valuable than individual knowledge because it recombines individual knowledge, something which is key to the value creation process.

In order to understand collective knowledge and how the community functions to solve complex problems, collective teaching is needed (Zhao, Anand, 2009). The concept highlights how problem solvers act when investigating and correcting problems, and how they use resources that are available to them when performing these tasks (Hong, Easterby-Smith, Stanley Snell, 2006). This is possible only through face-to-face interaction because its only then all senses can capture the entire spectrum of process embedded in human interaction (Athanassiou, Nigh, 2000), because of the intangible nature of interpersonal and crossfunctional patterns (Zhao, Anand, 2009).

The benefits of collective teaching over individual teaching is mainly its ability to teach and explain contextualized knowledge, something which cannot be fully revealed by an individual teacher, when information is situational or otherwise difficult to explain (Zhao, Anand, 2009). Tacit elements may require learn-by-doing approaches which are commented by an experienced tutor (Athanassiou, Nigh, 2000).

One way of achieving this complex knowledge transfer is to send subsidiary employees to the knowledge source, allowing them to get a greater understanding of the cultural and institutional context in which the collective organizational knowledge is embedded (Zhao, Anand, 2009) The organizational ability is improved by the replication of knowledge on an experimental

basis, or basically learn-by-doing, where the recipients exposure to new routines by interacting and observing is something which will facilitate their learning (Yan, 2000). This process could also be reduplicated by sending a sufficient number of expatriates to the subsidiary (Zhao, Anand, 2009).

As previously mentioned, the absorptive capacity of an organization plays a key role when transferring knowledge between units of an organization, where Cohen and Levinthal (1990) argued that an organizations ability to receive information and put it to use is not alone dependent on the sum of the skills held by each of its members but also heavily affected by the company structure. The implication is that the firm holds a collective absorptive capacity for which the firm's ability to engage in knowledge transfer is highly dependent. This organizational ability is reliant on structural attributes as well as cultural attributes, where the former includes coordination issues and the latter being associated with employee motivation (Zhao, Anand, 2009).

# 2.3 Disadvantages of Knowledge Transfer

While knowledge transfer is essential to provide the synergies associated with forming joint ventures, these processes are expensive and involves not only direct costs, of for example the cost of sending expatriates, but also indirect costs. For instance, indirect costs could be the opportunity cost of a knowledge source as well as the recipient. Where the later spends time locating sources of information, negotiating and integrating the acquired knowledge. Also the quest for obtaining knowledge through transfer is an opportunity cost because one cannot search for information and engage in self-learning at the same time, as well as an opportunity cost for the source, taking time from other assignments (Levine, Prietula, 2011).

In some cases the use of knowledge transfer is marginally beneficial to the subsidiary. Employee learning at the individual level in combination with greater access to organizational memory can undermine the benefits of knowledge transfer (Argote, 2013). According to Walsh and Ungson (1991) organizations are memory processing systems which exhibit memory that is similar in function to humans. Individual learning and organizational memory emerge as substitutable to knowledge transfer, heavily inflicting on the possible advantages of the later (Argote, 2013).

## 2.4 Summary of the Theoretical Framework

Knowledge transfer has been given great importance in order to improve joint venture subsidiary performance (Inkpen, 1998), (Yan, 2000), (Buckley, Clegg, Tan, 2004), (Kandemir, Hult, 2005) and the competitiveness of firms (Fink, Holden, 2005), (Buckley, Clegg, Tan, 2004), where the implication of introducing best practice is seen as one of the most important management strategies (Szulanski,1996). The theoretical framework on how to transfer knowledge was chosen on the basis of importance for improving joint venture subsidiary operations through the introduction of best practices. The receiving organization's absorptive capacity has been given great importance in the literature (Cohen, Levinthal, 1990), (Buckley, Clegg, Tan, 2004), (Argote, 2013), (Minbaeva, et al. 2003). Because of the weight being given to this ability on the receiving organizations behalf, it is reasonable to examine its effect on knowledge transfer in the Chinese automotive industry. Furthermore the success of joint ventures is highly dependent on the collaboration between the parent firms (Jeffries, Reed, 2000) where cultural factors both on the national level and the organizational level can affect all types of collaboration, this including the knowledge management (Simonin, 1999). Also the means of transferring both tacit and explicit knowledge (Argote, 2013), (Chang, Gong, Peng, 2012) is highly relevant to this study.

# 3. Methodology

## 3.1 Research Method

The writers Shields and Rangarajan (2013) state that applicability of quantitative and qualitative research method techniques depends on what the project is attempting to accomplish. But that when the researcher is trying to analyze an occurrence that is not directly measurable, where statistical data collection is not suitable and where the research can be characterized as preliminary, designed to orient or acquaint the researcher with a complex occurrence, the qualitative technique is more appropriate.

Jacobsen (2002) also states that a qualitative research approach is characterized by certain aspects. The approach is considered applicable when research in the field can be developed. While extensive research on knowledge transfer within joint ventures has been conducted, we are focusing our research on the small niche of knowledge transfer from Western MNC's to Chinese subsidiaries in joint ventures within the automotive industry as a mean to upgrade competences and remedy experienced problems. We therefore find the definition applicable. It is also appreciated as being more nuanced and comprehensive than the quantitative approach and it is also considered a more flexible approach in which you can adjust theoretical findings to collected empirical findings. Considering the abstract concept of knowledge transfer and the earlier limited research in our specific niche field of knowledge transfer, namely within joint venture operations in the Chinese automotive industry, we find a qualitative research approach to be most suitable

# 3.2 Research Approach

In order to relate the theory to our empirical results we will use inductive research approach, in opposition to the deductive research approach. When engaged in deductive research, the researcher moves toward the development of a logical explanation or theory and then tries to gather evidence to test the theory. Inductive research begins with a data collection and analysis that then leads to theorizing. As our process will be that of information and data collection followed by analysis and then formation of theory, we are engaged in inductive research (Shields, Rangarajan 2013).

# 3.3 Case Approach

For our thesis we have decided to use the case study as our research method. The case study method is an empirical inquiry method where the focus is on investigating a contemporary phenomenon within its real-life context and it is suitable for research questions that are typically formulated in the form of "how" or "why" (Yin, 2003). We therefore find it highly applicable to our research question.

Furthermore, case studies can be divided into three categories, exploratory, descriptive and explanatory (Yin, 2003). According to writers Shields and Rangarajan (2013) exploratory research is used when the understanding of a topic can be developed. We therefore perceive the research question to be of the exploratory kind.

The prevalent mean when conducting research based on the case study method is that data collection often derives from numerous sources such as reports, books and interviews, something which is exemplified in our thesis (Yin, 2003). Our aim with the thesis is to absorb as much information as possible to bridge the knowledge chasm. We will therefore follow the exploratory, qualitative and inductive research approach within the case study.

In order to answer our research question we found it to be of advantage to separate it into two underlying questions. One that focuses solely on how to successfully transfer knowledge between organizations in a joint venture. Then a second one that focuses on the most significant problems in the Chinese automotive industry, the competences it lacks and what specific knowledge sharing from the Western MNC's that can help in the upgrading its competences. This, since in order to be able to answer the question of how Western automotive MNC's can improve the operations of their joint venture subsidiaries in China through the transfer of knowledge, one must first identify what specific knowledge and competences that is in need of upgrading for Chinese automotive companies. Then secondly, what mechanisms and processes that are necessary for the Western organizations to succeed in the transferring of knowledge. It was important to form a comprehensive understanding of the two subjects independently and having accumulated thorough knowledge of the respective aspects, before making a joint conclusion.

## 3.3.1 Company Selection

The selection of cases is an important aspect of building theory from case studies. As the selection of the right research object(s) controls extraneous variation and can help in defining the limits for generalizing the findings. The selection also plays into effect when it comes to the scrutiny of empirical and theoretical findings and reaching an outcome of these (Eisenhardt, K. 1989).

Through the bachelor program International business and trade at the University of Gothenburg, School of Business, Economics and Law and their executive faculty we received contact with a representative of Volvo Group.

For our case study we therefore had the opportunity to receive information from and interview managers at Volvo Group. With the difficulty of finding a multitude of global Western automotive companies with operations in China in the near proximity, we appreciated the opportunity to accumulate an extensive depth instead of breadth from a large Western automotive company with great knowledge and experience within our field of study.

As a global automotive company with a previous history in China, and which currently is in the process of engaging in a joint venture with a Chinese automotive company, Volvo Group served as an exemplary organization to interview when researching knowledge transfer within joint ventures on the Chinese automotive industry.

#### 3.4 Data Collection

Information supporting or contradicting in a case study can be derived from six different sources: direct observation, participant observation, physical artifacts, interviews, documents and archival material (Yin, 2003)

Our focus in the data collection has been mainly on interviews and secondary data collection from archival material, documents and reports. Where we have used an approach which can be described as triangulation of data, where the researcher makes cross-checks on the empirical findings of both primary and secondary data in order to compare the findings. This approach

could provide results which are controversial or even conflicting, but the method could also be a source of new ideas and angles (Eriksson, Kovalainen, 2008).

## 3.4.1 Primary Data

The source for primary data was qualitative interviews. The material used for the interviews consisted of 28 questions based upon the theoretical framework of knowledge transfer as well as empirical data concerning both the first and second underlying questions. The interviews were recorded in order to accurately present the answers given by the persons being interviewed and not to mistakenly alter the responses.

One of the interviews was conducted in English and one interview was conducted in Swedish. The later was translated, with the aim of accurately provide the meaning of the respondent.

#### 3.4.1.1 Approach and Choice of Interviewees

Writers Lindlof and Taylor (2011) state that while interviews can be divided into a structured, unstructured and semi-structured format, for qualitative information gathering and interviews, an informal and semi-structured approach is exemplary. Where the interviewers engage in some planning before the session, in particular by preparing research question. This plan is then followed to most extent, but the interviewers can also respond flexibly to any contingencies which arise during the interview. Allowing the interviewers to get additional depth and knowledge from the respondents. We therefore followed a semi-structured format when conducting our interviews.

We also placed great emphasis on finding the right interviewees for our research. We were looking for interviewees that possessed extensive experience within our field of research, knowledge transfer in joint ventures and experienced problems in the Chinese automotive industry. As we hoped they could provide us with a deeper and more thorough insight into the subject.

Within Volvo Group we were allowed to interview two managers with great insight into the company's joint venture operations who both had several years of international experience in subsidiaries of the company.

The third interviewee was an academic expert within the field of knowledge management and organizational learning at Chalmers University of Technology.

We had a great number of questions prepared to ask our interviewees, in order to gather as much empirical data as possible. Due to the fact that we had 1-1,5 hours per interview we still had sufficient time to ask all our questions and had time to ask follow up questions if anything was unclear or if we or the interviewee wanted to elaborate something.

The interviews took place at Volvo Group for the two managers of Volvo and at the University of Chalmers for the academic expert and was both audio recorded and transcribed at the consent of the interviewees.

After finishing the interviewees we spent a small amount of time to summarize the discussion to see that the interviewees agreed with our notes. Also, after having transcribed the audio recording into exact word for word text we then allowed the managers to give their consent by e-mail. The academic expert did not feel it was necessary for us to do the same.

Finally, after having put the interviewees with the managers of Volvo into written form in our thesis, the thesis was sent to Volvo for a last approval before we handed it for examination. The academic expert did not feel it was necessary for us to do this either and therefore we used that interview material directly in our thesis with his consent.

## 3.4.2 Secondary Data

The secondary data is comprised of empirical evidence from various sources such as industry publications and reports, academic journals, news articles and dissertations. The data was retrieved by searching on internet based search-engines and by searching the on-line based resources of the library of the University of Gothenburg, as well as loans of physical resources from the same library.

### 3.4.3 Data Analysis

A qualitative analysis can be divided into three different steps. *Interpretation* which is to translate the information into understandable form. *Structuring*, which is the strategy of arranging, collecting and grouping material into specific categories. Then finally *compression*,

which is the step of compiling and summing up the information (Langemar, 2008). In our analysis of the data we followed these steps.

When the collection of primary and secondary data was finished, we begun by doing a thorough analysis and a selection of the material, to be certain that all material was relevant to us in our research. When conducting the selection of the primary and secondary data we searched for relevance to answering our two underlying questions.

We firstly extracted primary and secondary data that could support our understanding concerning how to succeed with knowledge transfer in joint ventures.

Secondly we extracted primary and secondary data that could support our understanding concerning the most relevant problems faced by the Chinese automotive industry and what competences that was needed to respond to the problems and help the Chinese automotive industry reach a competitive level.

For the primary data this meant that we had to transcribe the interviews and search for comparing or contrasting opinions regarding information that was relevant to us in order to answer our research question. For the secondary data this meant that we had analyze the abundance of reports, documents, news articles and literature that discusses the Chinese automotive industry and try to find mutually acknowledged opinions that could help us answer our research question.

#### 3.4.4 Presentation of the Data

When presenting our empirical findings we used an approach where we divided the two underlying questions in to certain themes or specific aspects that affected the two underlying questions in their entirety. Within these themes we then used a mix of both primary and secondary data to thoroughly respond to the specific aspects that could help us in answering the two underlying questions. While this approach cannot be considered to be the most commonly used method to present empirical data it still falls within accepted methods of presenting empirical evidence. We used this approach since we believe it would provide a much more comprehensible understanding for the reader, since the setup of presenting consenting or dissenting information within certain specific research spaces would provide a far more coherent setup than presenting it apart.

# 3.5 Validity and Reliability

The study we have done is qualitative and researchers are divided in their beliefs whether or not the accuracy of reliability and validity can be evaluated in the classic definition of the words when qualitative analysis is being assessed (Eriksson, Kovalainen, 2008). Either way an attempt can be made.

As previously stated we have used multiple sources of information and these sources are both primary and secondary. This allowed us to get multiple views on the same subject. This use of multiple sources should increase the validity of the results (Eriksson, Kovalainen, 2008), although the results could prove to be conflicting.

The secondary empirical data consists of many sources, from both researchers and other highly recognized sources. The probability that their research reflects the actual situation in most cases is very high and can therefore be considered both reliable and have high validity (Sreejesh, Mohapatra, Anusree, 2014).

The primary data could also be regarded as being both reliable and to have high validity, this because of the fact that the people being interviewed have great knowledge in the field. The results provided by these persons have high validity and legitimacy because of the accumulated experience of these persons being interviewed, and their experience should therefore be very well linked to the real environment and in this aspect provide a high external validity (Sreejesh, Mohapatra, Anusree, 2014). The interview questions were linked to the theoretical background we had chosen in order properly relate the questions asked to the subject of investigation where most of them were open ended in order to get answers not distorted by being suggestive. Something which could decrease validity (Sreejesh, Mohapatra, Anusree, 2014).

# 3.6 Critique

However despite the legitimacy of the knowledge attributed to the persons we interviewed and the validity of our secondary sources, our ambition to provide a general view on how Western MNCs could improve the operations of a joint venture with a Chinese partner in China, is not a universal proposal. The results cannot be said to be fully applicable for every joint venture partnership in China. They could serve as guidelines, but the findings of our research can never

be universally applicable for joint venture partners establishing a joint venture in China, because of the existence of different organizational structures and cultures within organizations as well as different goals of the joint venture partners, where the market conditions can be said to fully comply with the research for every company (Sreejesh, Mohapatra, Anusree, 2014). Of course a larger sample of persons being interviewed would have provided us with even more information, with results that would be more comprehensive and more conflicting, increasing the connection to the real circumstances. Therefore the recommendation would be to have a larger sample. Another interesting aspect would be to conduct a large scale quantitative research, were aspects of knowledge transfer could have been ranked by their importance, something which could provide more quantifiable data.

Also, certain critique could be directed towards our selection of the theoretical framework, since certain specific parts of it refer to older sources. However the older sources, from which we draw support, are considered authorities in the research area due to their contribution to the theoretical framework and are often recurring in recent studies within the field of knowledge transfer.

Finally, after having conducted our interviews we felt that some of our interview questions were too similar. Also the interview questions might sometimes have been slightly ambiguous. This sometimes led to interviewees responding to questions in a manner that was not related to our research questions and therefore had to be left out of the thesis. Due to a limited timeframe, one cannot wait too long before conducting the interviews but in hindsight we wished we would have had the more thorough knowledge we possess today when formulating our research questions.

# 4. Empirical Findings

# 4.1 Empirical Findings Concerning the Chinese Automotive Industry

## 4.1.1 A General Overview of the Chinese Automotive Industry

In order to cope with an ever increasing competitive global environment, voices are being raised that the Chinese automotive industry need to reinvent itself and come to grips with certain aspects that is making it limp behind its international competitors. The perception is that to capture its own rapidly growing market and not lose this to its foreign competitors and in order to be able to capture foreign markets, the Chinese automotive industry must become more innovative, more productive and increase the quality of its manufactured goods.

Considerations such as tightened regulations concerning emission standards is expected to put further increased pressure on the Chinese automotive manufacturers to decrease the fuel and electricity consumption in their production processes (China.cn, 2011) and to reduce the exhaust emission of the vehicles they produce (Kalmbach, Landmann, 2011), (Ban, et al. 2005), not only to gain access to foreign markets that have much stronger restrictions, but also to be able to remain on the Chinese market as the Chinese government implements stricter and stricter environmental restrictions.

The mentioned issues for the Chinese automotive industry coincide with a highly volatile employee market in China, characterized by high staff turnover (Eloot, Strube, Wang, n.d), (Yangpeng, 2013), (Shu, Liao, Bravery, 2011), fast increases in wages for Chinese employees and where Chinese manufacturers are struggling to find skilled and suitable personnel for their operations (Price, Bourgois, 2012). Consequently, the industry is regarded to have severe organizational structural and managerial issues that it needs to address.

In years to come, a consolidation on the Chinese automotive market is also expected to take place due to governmental policies and competition factors. While the implementations of the policies has not considered to have been successful so far, the Chinese government are seeking to decrease the number of actors on the market in order to make the remaining actors more competitive (Yu, 2013) (Chao, 2013). At the same time, competitive pressure is expected to push out ineffective companies. The fast growing Chinese automotive market will in opposition to common belief not enable many actors to profit on it, but instead create huge potential for the few actors who manage to capture it. (Shirouzu, 2009)

We will here bring up some of the major issues faced by the Chinese automotive organizations and present findings why these issues are perceived to be hampering growth and development.

## 4.1.2 The Human Capital

One of the major observed difficulties for the Chinese automotive sector is divided into a tripartite issue, namely the challenge of finding qualified staff, the challenge of retaining them and the sharp increase in wage cost for these skilled employees.

The challenge of finding qualified staff is considered to be attributable to numerous factors. Firstly, the overall and long term outlook for the workforce has to do with the demographic transition in China towards an ageing population, a result of the one-child policy which will have a severe impact on the size of the labor force in the long run. In 2012, China passed a landmark when its 'working age' population decreased for the first time (Chang, 2013). Also, the cohort of 15 to 24 year olds which has entered or will enter the workforce, peaked in 2005 at 227 million and is expected to fall to 150 million by the year of 2024 (Jacob, Waldmeir, 2011). Secondly, the rural labor pool is no longer undepletable. The Eastern industrialized regions of China are struggling to find both skilled and unskilled labor as workers are resettling and locating in central or Western China, closer to home and where living conditions are cheaper (Xinhua, 2014). Furthermore, a very sincere problem that Chinas faces is that while there is a great shortage of workers in many industries, the match between young graduates and the needs of the Chinese industry is poor. The Chinese society places high value on academic education while vocational education is held in contempt. This is occurring in a time when China needs well-trained workers for their product-oriented economy and not academic scholars (Wang, 2013) The mismatch of the education systems has gone so far that seven out of ten students in their final year have not signed an employment contract and it has created a generation of students that are regarded to be over-educated but under-skilled. (Wang, 2013)

Due to their high level of education many college graduates are also considered over-confident and unwilling to compromise when it comes to salaries, working conditions and career developments. Strengthening the downward spiral of mismatching between employees and employers. (China Labour Bulletin, 2013). To respond to the demand for well-qualified employees many foreign automotive companies with production in China have begun sponsoring the training of young specialists. The companies offer this training at separate

vocational schools and in collaboration with colleges and universities. In the training a strong emphasis is put on education and training towards the standards of each respective manufacturer and its products (Windelband, Arold, Spöttl, n.d). This, since more skilled employees are considered to have a positive effect on productivity and growth within organizations by increasing competences in adaptation, implementation and creation of new technologies and processes (Landesmann, Leitner, Stehrerand, Ward, 2009).

As a result of the labor shortage in China and the legislation which recently has been implemented, that defines minimum wage for workers, great increases in the wages of employees has taken place. (China Labour Bulletin, 2013), (China.cn, 2011).

Finally, in recent years a change of attitude among Chinese workers has been observed. The perception of Western manufacturing firms was long perceived to be that they perceived the main incentive for work among Chinese employees as money. However this perception is now being challenged as outdated and wrong (Metters, King-Metters, 2008). The impression is considered to once have held some value and therefore is considered to linger on among Western organizations from the early days of relocation to China in the 1980's. Furthermore some of these preconceptions is believe to stem from Western firms interaction with mainly migrant laborers in the special economic manufacturing zones, for whom the sole incentive of money might be more accurate, as these laborers to a greater extent seek to make money to send home to their families (Metters, King-Metters, 2008).

Today motivations of workers in China is also expected to have started to shift, which accentuates and explains the trend of high turnover rates of employees. Salary and benefits still play an important role for Chinese workers, but other values such as the public reputation of the company, management style, a good work-life balance, training systems and promotion opportunities have made strong headway in desired traits of companies (Price, Bourgois, 2012). It is considered a trend that is likely to continue and increase. It is therefore considered that major cultural shifts have changed the attitude of Chinese workers. This has been done to such an extent that studies now reveal that the main incentive for keeping employees within the automotive industry is no longer direct salary or benefit increases, but instead promotional opportunities and increased responsibilities within a company. (Price, Bourgois, 2012).

The notion of a mismatch between industry demand and education is brought up by one of our interviewed managers (Interviewee #2). He expresses that theoretical knowledge is available to a great extent but believe that experience is much harder to find. Especially hard is finding well-educated engineers with experience.

Connected to the issue of rising wages in China, one of the managers we speak to raise the awareness that there might be big differences between hiring Chinese workers from any of the big cities on the Eastern shore board, compared to workers coming from the countryside. He states that many of the people from the countryside are poor people who work hard for their own and their families living. When it comes to retention of workers, these workers are generally more motivated by money compared to workers from the rich coastal regions (Interviewee #1). Strategies for employee motivations and retention can therefore differ depending on the certain level the employee have met in living standards. One of our interviewees express that while money is still considered a very important aspect for most Chinese employees, motivational tools can start to differ when having reached a certain position within the company. Once you have reached a certain level of salary, other aspects might become more important (Interviewee #3).

Both the managers of Volvo we talked to expressed a perceived general issue of retaining personnel in China. However, they believe their organization to have succeeded in implementing strategies for the retention of workers and state that this is something they have had to work with in their subsidiary operations (Interviewee #1), (Interviewee #2). Successful strategies for employee attraction and retention was perceived to be employee recognition and appreciation, training and development opportunities, mediating the company's strong brand, flat and inclusive organizations with little hierarchy and lastly an organization with international opportunities which is perceived to especially attract young Chinese workers (Interviewee 1#), (Interviewee 2#).

Our third Interviewee also talked about the creation of a community surrounding the company, where social activities and social support could prove to be beneficial for personnel retention. In Chinese culture, people are very loyal towards their families and by turning the company into a sort of pseudo-family it is possible to reduce employee turnover and increase engagement (Interviewee #3).

The managers of Volvo do not perceive problems with investing in personnel even though they might be poached to other organizations, as they express that they have been quite lucky with their hiring and had little staff turnover. When it comes to competing for personnel it is mainly foreign brands that are perceived to be competing for the same talent (Interviewee #1). Concerning training of the employee's one of the managers also bring forward his view, "People may say, what if you educate people and they leave your company? But what if you don't and they stay? Then the cost is twice as high" (Interviewee #2).

## 4.1.3 Organizational Structure and Managerial Principles

The Chinese automotive industry is perceived to be facing numerous issues connected to organizational management. As touched upon earlier the demands of Chinese workers have changed significantly and organizations must stand out in the competition for the human capital. We will here try to cover a few of the most significant issues concerning organizational structures, business culture and managerial principles that face companies on the Chinese automotive market.

The organizational structure and the management of employees in Chinese companies were long characterized by, what is referred to as *The Iron Rice Bowl Scheme* or *Danwei* in Chinese. It is a Chinese idiom that refers to a system of employment that offers good job security, if not life-time employment as well as high salary together with strong benefits, while not being connected in any way to job performance (Xie, Lai, Wu, 2010), (Curtis, 2011). Implemented under the rule of Mao Zedong, the idiom refers to a favor scheme often exercised in state organizations or state run companies, but which trickled out into Chinese business culture. In order to reach high ranking positions within state controlled organizations, connections, favors and cronyism was key. In this aspect the system can be compared to the traditional Chinese favor system Guanxi. Just as the Iron Rice Bowl Scheme, Guanxi refers to personal relationships between people who can make demands of each other. The stronger the Guanxi is between two people, the stronger demands can be put forward. Essentially both the favor systems bottoms down in a who you know is more important than what you know culture (Tung, Worm, 2001). As a result of the initially mentioned Iron Rice Bowl Scheme, Chinese workers without connections were discriminated from positions or advancement within state controlled organizations even while boosting stronger merits. The system led to highly ineffective organizations and eventually had to be abolished due to crippling inefficiency, and since young Chinese to a large extent have adopted a Western mindset where benefits should be based on merit. However, backed up by long-standing traditions and people in positions of power wishing to keep their current position, the favor schemes are considered unlikely to disappear entirely (Xie, Lai, Wu, 2010).

The remnants of the Iron Rice Bowl Scheme is evident still today in state run organizations, such as the state controlled automotive manufacturing companies. Many of these companies is considered to be struggling to adapt to a competitive environment and in adopting a business mind-set (Eloot, Strube, Wang, 2013). One of the issues faced by these companies is that they lack an approach in creating incentives for employees, and in nurturing these to climb up the organizational hierarchy. Connected to the Iron Rice Bowl Scheme, the state-owned enterprises are also considered to fail in firing underperformers as well as failing to reward, promote or create incentives for employees and managers with strong merits (Eloot, Strube, Wang, 2013). Some experts also state that China has become a victim of its own success (The Economist, 2007). Since the Chinese manufacturing sector has been developing so fast, organizational competences has not been able to keep up. This mainly takes the form of a lack of experienced management with international know-how, which is a rare commodity in China and which is even harder to retain as the demand is growing significantly faster than the supply of qualified candidates (Eloot, Strube, Wang, 2013), (Eloot, Strube, Wang, n.d). With the aforementioned high turnover rate among employees, management cannot address the root causes of the observed issues, but must instead engage in full time *firefighting* (Eloot, Strube, Wang, n.d). This difficulty is considered to make it very hard to achieve success in skill-building efforts (Eloot, Strube, Wang, 2013).

Finally, current managerial practices and organizational structures within Chinese enterprises are perceived to serve as a great clog when it comes to fostering innovation, creativity and freethinking. In the large context, apart from the effect of *Guanxi* and *The Iron Rice Bowl Scheme*, this is expected to derive from the fact that Chinese society and Chinese companies are run according to traditional Confucian values. According to Confucian values everybody has their place within an organization, hierarchy is strictly adhered to and dissent is not expressed (Goh, Sullivan, 2010). As a result, management practices in China have been considered to educate workers to be obedient to their superiors and blindly follow instructions. Consequently the experienced issues have been that Chinese workers have done exactly as told,

no more and no less. In opposition to the west where feedback and personal opinions are accepted and often welcomed from employees by the management, Chinese workers are considered afraid to make their voice heard and express new ideas or dissent with current processes (Paritzky, 2011).

In recent years Chinese enterprises have been perceived to be taking steps towards a reformation though, as a generational change have taken place and as China have become aware that this attitude is depriving Chinese enterprises of progressivity (Paritzky, 2011). While the older generation of Chinese workers appreciate hierarchy and a strict top-down leading approach, young Chinese workers, who are now being hired and starting to join the management ranks of companies, have been exposed to new ideas through travelling, study and work experiences abroad and are considerably more outspoken and flexible in their view on hierarchy and leadership (Paritzky, 2011)

To attract and retain these coveted young professionals, which are considered so necessary for Chinese enterprises in the contemporary knowledge intensive and global economy. Corporate culture has become a competitive force, with the view that it is important that this culture is not only comprised of certain beliefs, but that it is expressed consistently through everyday business operations, management communication, and employee recognition (Raynaud, Eagan. 2013), (Frenkel, Li, 2010). In order to draw from this opportunity and the competences of this generation, experts state that automotive companies operating on the Chinese market should strive to overcome the shortcomings of obsolete Chinese management practices, rooted in traditions. Traditions that have rewarded good administrators over free-thinking innovators and created an organizational culture where the exchange of ideas between employees has been hindered by a culture which have discouraged creativity, curiosity, critical thinking and the collaborative approach, which are considered the fundamental brick stones of advanced manufacturing (Magnus, 2012).

Talent-driven innovation is considered the number one competitive factor among manufacturing companies in the world (Allen, Echevarria, Wince-Smith, 2013). Skill shortages within manufacturing companies therefore become problematic and may have a negative effect on innovative performance. (Tether, et al. 2005)

When asked if there was any certain organizational or business culture elements that was perceived to hamper development or innovation in the Chinese automotive industry, as well as

if there was any elements that could be perceived to be of advantage or disadvantage in attracting and retaining personnel. The managers both independently but very consistently identified a big problem with the hierarchical structures and closed culture in both China as a market and also the automotive industry as a very traditional and conservative industry, and also expressed very consistent views of the problems related to this (Interviewee #1), (Interviewee #2).

Within the Chinese organizations it was considered that there is a problem that employees and managers do not reveal shortcomings or lack of knowledge which makes competence development very hard. Managers in a more open cultures were perceived to understand that they do not need to know everything, and that organizations in themselves own and carry knowledge. Hierarchical organizations have a much harder time to disperse knowledge and have limited cross-functional collaboration within the organizations (Interviewee #2). Also, there has for long been a prevalent mentality of "If I do nothing, nobody can blame me that I have done something wrong" (Interviewee #1).

Furthermore, the hierarchical and closed business structure is perceived to have a strong effect on the innovative competences of the organizations, in terms of upgrading existing processes, problem solving or inventing new products or services (Interviewee #1), (Interviewee #2). In Chinese organizations high level knowledge is abundant, but the view is that organizations should focus less on solely carrying vast amounts of knowledge as means for upgrading these innovative competencies and instead carefully regard creative aspects, like thinking in new patterns and turning the knowledge into new solutions (Interviewee #2). However, while problem solving or developing new products or processes might be dependent on creativity. It is also considered highly dependent on control and defined frames. One manager states that Western organizations might have become too creative, which inevitably calls for clearer limitations and that Western automotive MNC's can actually learn how to get things done faster and more forcefully from their joint venture partners in China. Democracy and openness within organizations generally provides very good results, something that Chinese partners should learn from the Western partners, but the view expressed is that it might slow things down and disperse focus (Interviewee #2).

Finally, both managers identified young Chinese workers as key in upgrading competences in the Chinese automotive industry (Interviewee #1), (Interviewee #2). The problem with the prevailing business culture is that unless you have reached a certain age or position your thinking is not worth much (Interviewee #1). China is considered a special case though, when

compared to many countries. Because today in China, the young people are the ones with education, who speak English and who have been abroad and accumulated international experience (Interviewee #1). They are more likely to accept and absorb new ways to do things (Interviewee #1), (Interviewee #2). The current issue only being that they lack experience (Interviewee #1). Therefore young people are expected to ultimately change the prevailing business culture and introduce more elements of an open and collaborative business environment (Interviewee #2).

#### 4.1.4 Product and Process Competitiveness

Low quality of their produced goods is observed as a significant issue for the Chinese automotive industry, where observers today express that a large gap exists between Chinese manufacturers and the world-class automotive manufacturers in products and processes (Ban, et al. 2005). With the aforementioned expected consolidation of the market, for any Chinese automotive company wishing to survive on the long-term it is considered necessary to develop competences equal to these manufacturers (Ban, et al. 2005)

While many Chinese automotive companies previously have been able to rely on support from local governments or the national government, this support is not expected to protect them from competitors with better quality vehicles in the future. The survival of any company in the next few years will instead depend on its ability to overcome the quality gap (Ban, et al. 2005).

Despite this evident need to upgrade their competences, many Chinese automotive companies are considered to have difficulties in increasing quality as they lag behind in spending on research and development. While many international companies are basing their research and development strategies on a 20 to 25 year future outlook, many Chinese companies limit themselves to a 5 to 6 years perspective. Core competences and technology is not something that an organization is considered able to develop quickly, it is instead an accumulative process of knowledge over time (Tham, 2013). Many Chinese organizations are expected to face difficulties in the strong and increased competition that will take place on the market in the next upcoming years, as they lack the possibility to develop these technologies and competences by themselves. To close the product and process gap between Chinese manufacturers and their world-class counterparts, the Chinese organizations themselves expect a time frame of 10 to 30 years. Where the biggest gaps are perceived to be in design competence of components,

production management competences and business management skills and experience (Ban, et al. 2005)

One interviewed manager also expressed the view and state that Chinese automotive organizations will need to upgrade competences concerning the quality of the produced goods. Currently the Chinese organizations are considered very good at reduplication and mass-production, but they have not yet reached equal competitive levels as the Western automotive MNC's in terms of quality. However, while it is expected to take time, they are considered to be moving in the right direction and are starting to realize the necessity of creative processes within manufacturing that can achieve the upgrading of quality competences (Interviewee #2).

#### 4.1.5 Responding to Stricter Emission Regulations

Great pressure is expected to be put on Chinese automotive companies in the future due to stricter environmental legislation and restrictions being implemented both in the domestic market as well as in foreign markets. For Chinese automotive manufacturers the problem is two folded. Firstly, greater pressure will be put on manufacturers to significantly reduce the exhaust emission of their vehicles, with the recent implementation of emission standards in China equivalent to the Euro IV emission standard (Rowe, 2013), (Road safety Authority, 2013), an older emission standard implemented in the European Union which defines exhaust limits for vehicles. Increased demand will be put on Chinese automotive manufacturers to upgrade their innovative competences, technological knowledge and to adhere to the standards. Similar or even stricter national policies have been or are being implemented all across the world and consequently manufacturers within the Chinese automotive industry that are seeking to become global players will be forced to respond to these raised standards. An issues which today is considered to hinder Chinese automotive manufacturers as they do not meet emission requirements in the more developed markets of the US, Europe or Japan (Waldmeir, 2010). The development of environmental standards have gone so far that in certain regions and cities, low or even zero emission regulations will soon be implemented, forcing manufacturers to produce hybrid or fully electric vehicles (Kalmbach, Landmann, 2011).

The Chinese government has so far been relatively unsuccessful in implementing the emission requirements and in forcing actors to adjust to the new legislative standards, due to numerous issues. Firstly, the policies for emission standards have been changing too much and too

frequently, which has made it hard for manufacturers to prepare for and implement the necessary changes. Secondly, there has been poor enforcement of the standards with no monitoring system that requires compliance. Lastly, high cost of vehicles that meet higher emission standards ultimately affects popularity which discourages manufacturers from obeying and adhering to new standards (Ban, et al. 2005).

However, the trend of stricter emission standards is only expected to intensify and monitoring and compliance systems will become more effective (Ban, et al. 2005). Also, the opportunity to offer customers low-CO2 products with energy and cost-saving solutions is becoming increasingly important as a differentiating factor, as energy prices are climbing steadily in China and is expected to continue do so, which inevitably leads to increased costs of transportation (Kalmbach, Landmann, 2011).

The second problem for automotive manufacturers in China is that new environmental restrictions from the national government are expected to fundamentally change the Chinese production model. A model that was long characterized by low costs, high consumption and high emissions, but which evidently could not be sustainable on the long term (Yuanzheng, Chiu, 2012).

Energy consumption per produced unit in the Chinese manufacturing sector goes beyond the international standard (Xu, 2005) and with rising prices of energy, a majority of Chinese manufacturers perceives a significant problem of manufacturing costs rising faster than manufacturing development (China.cn, 2011). Today, factory emission standards in China are even tighter than in the US and Europe due environmental restriction policies (Rowe, 2013).

## 4.2 Empirical Findings Concerning Knowledge Transfer

### 4.2.1 Benefits of Knowledge Transfer

Joint ventures in China have substantially improved the production competence of the recipient firms through technological transfer from the foreign parents (Nam, 2010). Knowledge development is a key source of competitive advantage, something which both Western as well as Chinese partners have realized (Ding, 2013). The success for Shanghai Volkswagen and Shanghai General Motors, the most successful joint ventures in the automotive industry in China, are further examples of the benefits of knowledge transfer to joint venture subsidiaries (Nam, 2010). Moreover the success of Pan Asia Technical Automotive Center (PATAC), China's first joint venture in automotive design and engineering, is strongly correlated to knowledge transfer, where the absorption of knowledge from the foreign parent General Motors was very rapid (Zhao, Anand, 2009).

### 4.2.2 How to Transfer Knowledge

#### 4.2.2.1 Absorptive Capacity

According to interviewee #1, knowledge transfer is complicated by language issues. Even though many Chinese have sufficient English skills, there are still problems in the interior provinces of the country, even when using interpreters there might still be misunderstandings. On the other hand, the difficulties dealing with problems related to communication means that partners have to make more of an effort to understand each other which could lead to a greater insight. "In Asia it is often the listening part that is more important than what you say. Communication is therefore very important in order to succeed with joint venture operations" (Interviewee #1).

"Generally hierarchical cultures make internal knowledge transfer more difficult. In more open societies, managers understand that they do not need to know everything themselves. Instead organizations are the owners of knowledge. The more hierarchical a society and organization, the more complicated is the dispersion of knowledge within the organization. The hierarchical structure also serves as a limitation to cross-functional collaboration, where employees stay within their frame" (Interviewee #2). Hierarchy is considered to affect knowledge transfer, and also the traditional Chinese mentality is perceived to be affecting knowledge transfer

(Interviewee #1). Western firms tend to have much more flat organizations than in China, where hierarchies are more important. This is considered to be hampering innovation in China, where age and position is a determining factor of the value of your thinking. However, this culture is experienced to gradually having started to change. The country has experienced such massive development and young people are the ones that will be able to handle the situation, since they are the ones with the education, international experience and proficiency to speak English. Therefore the younger generation is considered key when it comes to absorbing and accepting to do things in a new manner; and considered the key for improving the knowledge transfer processes (Interviewee #1), (Interviewee #2). While the drawback is considered to be that they lack experience where more time is spent on explaining (Interviewee #1).

"Knowledge in China is about carrying as much information as possible, and not carefully regarding creative aspects, like thinking in new patterns, where brainstorming is important. In China high level knowledge is abundant, but the ability to turn this knowledge into something new is not established in the automotive industry" (Interviewee #2). "The establishment of a *Competence development council*, where everyone's opinion matters, is something which previously has proven to be very effective and could help to improve processes" (Interviewee #2).

In competence development, the ways of working are perceived to be somewhat outdated, traditional classroom teaching is still used, where employees are still trained and lectured instead of coached and the use of electronic tools is still limited (Interviewee #1), (Interviewee #2). "Underinvestment in training of the employees is common, this because of problems with retention of the personnel" (Interviewee #2). However the interest from the Chinese managers to train their personnel seems to be high from recent experience, but in general there might not be the same interest among Chinese managers (Interviewee #1). Interviewee #2 also expressed that Chinese managers are increasingly willing to invest in training when they are convinced of the benefits of training their personnel. In a study performed by Antal, Dierkes and Marz (1999) it was found that in general Chinese managers highly valued training something which was seen as an important factor in transforming businesses, where trained staff was seen as more competent in solving problems, strategy development and as being more entrepreneurial. However the study also showed that managers expressed concerns about the difficulties of recruiting and retaining competent personnel (Antal, Dierkes, Marz, 1999). Another study showed that Chinese partners have been reluctant to invest in training where it has been seen

more as budgetary question rather than a strategic investment, where short term profit have been seen as more important than long term goals. (Buckley, Clegg, Tan, 2004).

Zhao and Anand (2009) stated in their research that having experienced or highly trained employees is no guarantee for that the subsidiary will acquire new knowledge more efficiently or quickly. The research suggests that it is important to develop an organizational structure which is flexible and develop an integrated team culture, in order to ensure knowledge transfer.

Survey data from a study of 161 engineering units, of multinational companies in the Chinese automotive industry, has shown that when ensuring knowledge transfer, collective absorptive is superior is fundamental, more so than individual absorptive capacity. Improving the structural and organizational absorptive capacity had great impact on the organizational knowledge as well as the individual knowledge (Zhao, Anand, 2009). The Pan Asia Technical Automotive Center (PATAC) was the first design and engineering joint venture in China. Started from scratch it did not inherit the corporate structure with inefficient organizational hierarchy common in China. The engineers employed by the company were mostly new graduates. However despite the lack of experience the collective absorptive capacity was high, which enabled PATAC to quickly adopt advanced research and development procedures (Zhao, Anand, 2009). In Shanghai Volkswagen a gradual approach to upgrading old models instead of develop new products at the joint venture sight were chosen because of the weak absorptive capacity of the joint venture (Zhao, Anand, 2009) In a study by Nam (2010) he found that investment in research and development in joint ventures is a function of the already existing local innovation competence. If investments in research and development have been made by the foreign parent they have been made because of the innovative structure already in place at the joint venture site.

#### 4.2.2.2 Collaboration between the Joint Venture Partners

"A joint venture is built on the premise that you have a common view and a common target and agree on what you want to achieve, where the joint venture structure is complicated because of the dual ownership, where management on one side cannot decide on their own. With two organizations represented on the board, there always has to agreement in order to make it work" (Interviewee #1).

"When forming a close relationship with our Chinese counterparts we are much more likely to succeed with whatever we do if we have made an effort of aligning our goals. Having different goals will affect knowledge transfer. If one partner dislikes a decision it is rather easy for them to obstruct and make it difficult for the other partner. And that of course affects the transfer of knowledge" (Interviewee #1).

In the Guangzhou Peugeot joint venture, the goals between the partners were anything but similar. Peugeot's involvement lacked the characteristics of a long term commitment, where the strategic intention of the French company did not cope with the goals the Guangzhou local government had for the joint venture where they wanted to develop the industry in the Guangdong province. This was considered a contributing factor to the poor performance of the joint venture and ultimately one of the reasons that the joint venture partnership came to a premature end (Fernandez, Liu, 2007).

According to a study of the two pioneers in joint ventures in China's automotive industry, Shanghai Volkswagen and Beijing Jeep Corp, a major problem for the joint ventures was the bad relationship between the partners with the development a mentality of *us and them* between the Western and the Chinese partners. This was not only due to the language barrier, where translations were considered time consuming but also disrespect of the Chinese management from the Westerners (Hoon-Halbauer, 1999).

In a recent study by Ding (2013), the relationship between joint venture partners was considered to have a major impact on knowledge transfer, where the amount of relationship capital positively correlates to the amount of knowledge transferred and subsequently joint venture performance. Another result of the study was that alliances with the appropriate structures and mechanisms could reduce the cultural misunderstandings, something which promoted interfirm knowledge transfer.

#### 4.2.2.3 Means of Transferring Knowledge - Expatriates

"Using expatriates as a tool for knowledge transfer is very common. Their primary function is to get a connection between the parent firm and the joint venture subsidiary. The core of the joint venture is therefore often manned with expatriates. When using expatriates there should always be a clear purpose and the time they spend in the joint venture leadership should be

limited and a plan for succession should be in place, where hopefully a local person eventually will be able to take over the position. This person can be coached by the expatriate as an apprentice, where the studying of a good tutor while working is an excellent form of learning (Interviewee #2). However, it is very rare that a succession plan for an expatriate is established. Instead their contracts are extended, sometimes multiple times" (Interviewee #2). "Sending expatriates, if followed through in the right way with a plan of succession, is like a mentorship or coaching-ship which can be extraordinarily effective" (Interviewee #2). The concept of teacher and apprentice is a common way of transferring the tacit knowledge where the quality of communication is very high. The apprentice is allowed to see, understand and feel how the teacher reasons (Interviewee #3).

"The ideal situation when you send an expatriate is that it should be an expatriate who has a good knowledge about the parent firm and that has a very good network within the same" (Interviewee #1). "Sending out an expatriate is like sending out the network to the joint venture. Something which is among the most difficult things to acquire in any other way because of the intangible nature of the network" (Interviewee #2). "Preferably the person should also have knowledge about, in this case China, and the Chinese industry. A problem is that even in large organizations, people with the experience of working in China are limited" (Interviewee #1). According to interviewee #2, the perfect expatriate is someone who can easily understand the cultures and who can draw benefits from the cultural differences. In a study on how expatriates respond to cross-cultural training performed by Selmer (2005), there was evidence suggesting that cultural training could facilitate work adjustment for expatriate managers in a joint venture in China, however the results were tentative.

To be able to transfer not only knowledge but also values between organizations, personal contact is regarded as extremely important, where it is considered hard to teach tacit knowledge such as values through other tools, like electronic ones, and therefore they cannot replace personal contact and face-to-face interaction. However, other tools might be more beneficial when transferring more strict functions (Interviewee #1). Virtual tools were also considered to be able to increase effectiveness in the entire education process as a support mechanism (Interviewee #2). Information databases was considered an effective mean of knowledge transfer, especially if the databases had a good structure. "The best examples of these databases contain videos with a person speaking. This bridges some of the problems with transferring knowledge through electronic tools, as they contain the element of face-to-face communication" (Interviewee #3)

Chrysler implemented what they called *communities of practice*, which were thought to facilitate communication between engineers after a company restructure, which dispersed a well-functioning informal, socially constructed community working together locally. This lead to a rapid depreciation of expertise something which the *communities of practice*, where members could interact both virtually and through real meetings, since it could not remedy the loss of the dynamic community after the restructure (Levine, Preitula, 2011), (Ruggles, 1998).

In Hoon-Halbauer's study (1999), the early expatriates assigned to a joint venture were selected on the basis of their technical knowledge and were inadequately prepared for the major cultural difference. Although they were aware of them to some extent, the depth of the differences were not fully understood, as well as the actions and behavior of the Chinese staff (Hoon-Halbauer, 1999). The answer to this problem could be to send Asian employees as expatriates to China as they might find it easier to adjust to the new environment. There is also evidence suggesting that Asian nationals receive more support from the local Chinese (Varma, et al. 2012).

Earlier studies have shown that a majority of the American expatriates being sent to developing nations was returning home prematurely, at great expense to the company. Adding to this problem, many of those who made the decision to stay at their position in the subsidiary also performed inefficiently due to failure to adopt to the host country environment (Tian, 2007). The findings of high costs associated with expatriates is also shared by one of the interviewed managers who also express that in a cost-cutting situation, the number of expatriates is likely to be reduced first (Interviewee #2).

"Regardless of sending Western expatriates to China or sending Chinese employees the opposite direction, it is important to send several individuals at the same time. Not only is this essential for social wellbeing and to enable the discussion and reflection of the individuals' experiences but also because a greater understanding of the new organization could be attained" (Interviewee #3).

While sending expatriates is an important tool for transferring knowledge, increasing the number of expatriates does not necessarily mean that more knowledge can be transferred to a joint venture. According to research the absorptive capacity of the receiving organization is more important than increasing the number of expatriates in order to increase flows of knowledge transfer (Chang, Gong, Peng, 2012).

#### 4.2.2.4 Means of Transferring knowledge - Collective Teaching

In Zhao and Anand's (2009) research they found that collective teaching was far superior to individual teaching, even when transferring individual knowledge. Shanghai Volkswagen used group teaching as their primary means of transferring research and development capacity. A research and development team was sent from China to Germany for job training and learning. This training immensely facilitated when the Chinese research and development team later on modified Volkswagen's models (Zhao, Anand, Mitchell, 2004). Sending subsidiary employees to the knowledge source have been proven to be an effective measure, allowing them to get a greater understanding of the cultural and institutional context in which the collective organizational knowledge is embedded (Zhao, Anand, 2009).

It is also important to manage knowledge transfer proactively. For the effective learning to take place between the joint venture and the parents it is insufficient to simply expose individuals to new knowledge, the intensity of the learning efforts is also a critical component. To fully capitalize on the learning opportunities in a joint venture the firms must create knowledge transfer mechanisms (Inkpen, 2008).

"An effective way of transferring knowledge is joint projects between the partners. By doing so you have formalized an organization where learning can take place by allowing effective connections between the partners" (Interviewee #2).

"Establishing a joint project is an effective way of transferring knowledge. This could be done by establishing a unit with consisting of product developers, production personnel and project managers. By establishing these cross-functional units the obstacles to knowledge transfer is effectively reduced. It is very important to have a forthright support from the top management in order to receive creditability" (Interviewee #3).

#### 4.2.3 Disadvantages of Knowledge Transfer

"Knowledge transfer might not always be needed in already operating joint ventures since the operations are already functioning well but with different methods than the Western parent. Then, there is a risk that knowledge transfer might disrupt working processes, especially when trying to implement complex measures" (Interviewee #2). "There also needs to be respect for the fact that when trying to transfer knowledge, it will take time. When changing processes within the own organization, the targeted process is usually just one of a multitude of processes, and usually only concerns small changes made to the existing process. Sometimes when trying to transfer knowledge or other practices it can be a total overhaul of every process within an organization. Adapting the pace and focusing on the things that are needed the most are therefore important aspects in supporting a partner's goal to upgrade competences" (Interviewee #1).

"Knowledge transfer can also be hampered by attempts to manage from the top, where it is important to understand that the implementation of processes are built from below and built by those who work with the processes. Also the transfer processes require tools and foundations which might not be there in China. A direct implementation is therefore not appropriate in all cases of knowledge transfer. Instead the better way of supporting the upgrade of the joint venture subsidiary's competences might to make suggestions which processes and how these process could be adjusted to the prevailing conditions" (Interviewee #2).

# 5. Analysis

In our study of the Chinese automotive industry and the problems it faces, all our empirical findings, both secondary and primary data, was largely coherent and consistent. Upon analyzing this occurrence we believe it to be attributable to the fact that our secondary data mainly consists of experts within the Chinese automotive industry expressing their predictions and views on trends. The high consistency between our secondary and primary data empirical findings therefore probably derives from the fact that our interview objects, as experts in the same industry, probably see the same trends and make similar predictions.

We also saw the same consistency when cross-referencing our empirical data concerning knowledge transfer and believe it to be attributable to the same reason.

## 5.1 Analysis of the Chinese Automotive Industry

Through all our empirical findings we have identified several issues that seem to be of importance for the Chinese automotive industry to respond to, this in order to upgrade its competences and become globally competitive.

Firstly, our empirical findings seem to suggest that the Chinese automotive companies are losing their low-cost production advantage. The implementation of environmental standards seems to put increased pressure on the Chinese automotive organizations to acquire competences related to more lean and effective production processes. The Chinese production model was long characterized by high energy consumption, high emission levels and low-cost labor advantages. But we now perceive this production model to be challenged by the implementation of national energy preservation policies, which is a result of rising costs of energy, as well as rising wages for employees. The changing production model in association with increased market pressure, has forced the Chinese automotive organizations to find ways to increase their competences associated to productivity, quality, innovation and internal collaboration to be able to better compete on a changing global market (Eloot, Strube, Wang, 2013).

Connected to emission standards, we also see the automotive market moving rapidly towards stricter standards and demands on exhaust emissions from vehicles, as governments all across

the world are implementing tougher environmental restrictions. These findings emphasizes a need for Chinese automotive companies to upgrade their technological know-how associated to green technologies to be able to survive under increased legislative pressure.

Much of the empirical data also seem to point to the importance of strategies for knowledge retention within organizations in the Chinese automotive industry. In order for the transferring of knowledge between organizations and the upgrading of competences to be successful our findings suggests that companies must manage to retain the personnel that they are training. With the high turnover rate among Chinese employees, where studies show that as many as one-third of the employees are seriously considering to leave their organization (Shu, Liao, Bravery, 2011), competence building is experienced to be problematic. As the complexity of the industry and the markets increase, the importance of skilled and flexible workers within the automotive industry, who can stand for autonomous problem solving and decision making, seem to become increasingly evident (Cantre, Robbin, Smith, 2011). The findings also point to more skilled employees having positive effect on productivity and growth within organization by increasing competences in adaptation, implementation and creation of new technologies and processes (Landesmann, Leitner, Stehrerand, Ward, 2009).

However, the strategy to reform the human capital processes within Chinese organizations is problematic and may be hindered by the fact that poaching takes place between organizations. Organizations that have recognized the trend and necessity to invest in the training of their employees and which embraces the transferring of competences and knowledge from their Western partner firms, might be subject to competitors headhunting their well-trained staff (The Economist, 2007), (Interviewee #1).

Our findings suggest that motivational tools for employees can differ between regions and individuals, but that a shift is starting to take place where salary and promotional opportunities still remain as important motivational tools, but that they are also losing in value compared to other tools. Strategies that are considered effective for employee retention is softer-core values, consisting of employee recognition and appreciation, training and development opportunities, public reputation of the company, flat and inclusive organizations with little hierarchy, international working opportunities and good work-life balance. The shift seems to be especially evident for young Chinese workers (Price, Bourgois, 2012), (Interviewee #1), (Interviewee #2). Connected to our empirical findings we therefore perceive signs of many

Chinese automotive companies to have organizational structures and managerial principles that are out of sync with contemporary Chinese workers when it comes to retention, incentives and rewards, which greatly would decrease their competitive advantage.

The question of whether or not young Chinese workers can be considered to be of great importance for Chinese automotive organizations is complex. While some of the empirical findings point to the fact that there is large mismatch between educated young Chinese workers and the demands of the industry, where it is easy to find theoretical knowledge but where experience and more vocational skills is in short supply (Wang, 2013), (Interviewee #2). Other findings stress the importance of young Chinese workers as key to upgrade competences within the Chinese automotive industry since they possess international experience, new ways of thinking and speak English, which greatly facilitates in business as well as learning processes (Interviewee #1), (Interviewee #2). While there seem to be a shortage of vocational skills and experience among young Chinese workers the contradictory findings do not have to be mutually exclusive. The young workers still seem to possess the necessary mentality and absorptive capacity to acquire new knowledge that is needed in order to respond to the problems of the industry.

Organizational structure and managerial principles, while affecting knowledge retention, also seem to strongly affect the overall competitiveness of Chinese automotive organizations. Where our empirical findings stress the necessity to upgrade production management competences and business management skills and experience (Ban, et al. 2005). The existing organizational and business culture seem to derive to a great extent from national traditions and values such as *Confucian Value Principles*, *Guanxi* and the *Iron Rice Bowl Scheme*. Our findings suggest that this business culture is depriving Chinese organization of innovative competence and growth as it creates strict hierarchical organization that discourages engagement in decision making and free-thinking of workers. Also the business culture seems to be problematic since employees and managers do not dare to reveal shortcomings or lack of knowledge. Not being able to target the specific areas in which managers and employees are in need of training could be very problematic for competence development.

The findings also seem to highlight a need to remedy the problem of quality gaps in produced goods and processes between Chinese manufacturers and the world-class automotive manufacturers (Ban, et al. 2005). With the mentioned decrease and even disappearance of low-

cost advantages for Chinese automotive companies, the upgrading of quality will most probably become a competitive tool for survival for Chinese automotive organizations.

As the identified competencies are hard to acquire or develop on its own for organizations and most importantly take time, knowledge transfer from Western partners most probably can help the Chinese organizations to leapfrog the development.

## 5.2 Analysis of Knowledge Transfer

#### 5.2.1 Benefits of Knowledge Transfer

Knowledge transfer from a foreign parent to the joint venture has been given great importance in the theoretical literature on the subject (Buckley, Clegg, Tan, 2004), (Inkpen, 1998), (Yan, 2000) (Kandemir, Hult, 2005). In the case of improving organizational processes and competences there were many examples found in the empirical data supporting this claim (Zhao, Anand, 2009), (Nam, 2010).

### 5.2.2 Absorptive Capacity

Theory is suggesting that training is one method which can increase absorptive capacity (Buckley, Clegg, Tan, 2004). There are conflicting results in the empirical data on how Chinese managers perceive training, where on one hand trained staff was considered to be more competent and training was seen as a strategic investment (Antal, Dierkes, Marz, 1999), while other findings pointed to training being regarded as unnecessary (Buckley, Clegg, Tan, 2004). Chinese managers seem to be willing to invest in training first when they are convinced of the benefits (Interviewee #2). The difficulty of retaining personnel in China may have had a negative impact on the Chinese managers' perception on training, where competent personnel are difficult to maintain within the companies.

The language barriers between the foreign parent and the joint venture subsidiary seems to complicate knowledge transfer, where language training is suggested in our findings to improve absorptive capacity in the joint venture (Buckley, Clegg, Tan, 2004). Furthermore there are empirical findings pointing out that the language barrier may also create a feeling of alienation between the partners, something which harm the relationship between the partners. However as one of the interviewees pointed out, the focus on interpretation could lead to a better

understanding since listening and understanding is given such emphasis (Interviewee #1). Due to the complexity of language barriers, young Chinese employees are also considered very important since they have a greater proficiency in English (Interviewee #2), which is considered to assist in increasing the absorptive capacity of organizations and which might also decrease alienation.

However highly trained or experienced, personnel alone seems to be no guarantee for increasing the subsidiary's absorptive capacity, it is also dependent on the structure of the organization (Zhao, Anand, 2009). Collective knowledge which is embedded in the corporate structure is proposed to be a key element of knowledge transfer and more valuable than individual knowledge. The example of Chrysler's *Communities of practice* (Levine, Preitula, 2011), (Ruggles, 1998) is suggesting that the claim could be accurate. Our interviewees expressed that China's hierarchical structure is far from optimal in order to transfer knowledge and where the dispersion of knowledge within the organization is hampered (Interviewee #1), (Interviewee #2). A development of the organizational structure, towards a more flat and open structure, with a more integrated team culture, seems to therefore increase the absorptive capacity and thus facilitate knowledge transfer to the organization and within the organization which ultimately seem to improve processes and innovativeness. Young people are expressed to be key in this development, as they are more open to new ideas and ways of thinking (Interviewee #1), (Interviewee #2).

This is something which could be seen in the example of PATAC (Zhao, Anand, 2009) as well as in the responses from our interviewees (Interviewee #1), (Interviewee #2).

This is connected to Kandemir and Hult's (2005) behavioral orientations which points to certain characteristics of organizations that are important when it comes to absorptive capacity. Such as the necessity of constructs and organizational structures that engage management and workers in the decision making, encourages collaboration and cooperation, at times puts hierarchy aside, encourages organizational members to question the organizational norms that control their actions and behaviors, place high value on learning and that encourages and promote communication and distribution of knowledge between members of the organization.

Finally, it seems that strategic investments in research and development are suggested to be affected by the innovative competence and the absorptive capacity already in place. In the case of Shanghai Volkswagen it seems that the weak absorptive capacity had implications to

strategy, where an approach to upgrade old models had to be chosen over the development of new ones (Zhao, Anand, 2009).

#### 5.2.3 Collaboration Aspects

How well the partners can collaborate and the alignment of goals seems to be an important key to effectively transfer knowledge to the joint venture subsidiary (Interviewee #1), (Fernandez, Liu, 2007). Agreeing on goals seems to be important since partners can obstruct decisions they dislike. Being of the same opinion appear to be of great importance to knowledge transfer given the nature of a joint venture, where each party have part in decision making.

This is supported by the theoretical framework (Simonin, 1999), (Lyles, Salk, 1996), (Buckley, Clegg, Tan, 2006). The previously mentioned language barrier as well as cultural misunderstandings is probable sources of conflict (Hoon-Halbauer, 1999), which ultimately hurts the transfer of knowledge, where the partner can obstruct decisions that they do not like. It seems that there is a strong correlation between relationship of the partners and to the amount of knowledge being transferred to the joint venture (Ding, 2013).

#### 5.2.4 Means of Transfer

Our findings point to that expatriates could be a very effective mean of knowledge transfer. The element of face-to-face contact, which seems to be of great importance for the transfer of tacit knowledge and values, is suggesting that sending expatriates is an important aspect of transferring knowledge to a joint venture. Other modern tools of communication do not seem to have been able to replace face-to-face interaction, however information databases seem to be a good tool for transferring explicit knowledge, especially when the database has a good structure where information is easily retrieved (Interviewee #3). Assigning an expatriate with an apprentice is likely to be a very efficient method of knowledge transfer (Interviewee #2), (Interviewee #3). The theory suggest that extensive connection is required to transfer tacit knowledge (Chang, Gong, Peng, 2012) which can be based on personal experience, something which is expected to be facilitated by the extensive contact between an expatriate and an apprentice. Also when sending an expatriate to a joint venture, the network of an organization is being transferred to the joint venture (Interviewee #2), something which is tacit in nature and therefore very complicated to transfer in itself.

An expatriate's ability to transfer knowledge to the joint venture is very likely to be dependent on the cultural understanding of the expatriate; however the effects of cultural training as a way to improve the performance of an expatriate are not confirmed (Selmer, 2005). Sending an expatriate with experience is likely to be a preferable method since the probability of success is greater (Chang, Gong, Peng, 2012), (Interviewee #1), (Interviewee #2) as well as the likeliness of premature return (Tian, 2007) should be lower because adjustment to the host country environment is easier.

Since sending expatriates to the joint venture is an expensive measure, there seems to be strong reason for establishing a succession plan for the expatriate (Interviewee #2). Also having expatriates occupying every key position in the joint venture in the long run is a probable cause of resentment from local employees (Chang, Gong, Peng, 2012), leaving them with less opportunity for promotion (Tian, 2007).

It is also to be noted that the success of knowledge transfer from expatriates seems to be highly dependent on the absorptive capacity of the subsidiary (Chang, Gong, Peng, 2012). It is also probable that a higher absorptive capacity of the joint venture subsidiary serve as motivation for the expatriate to engage in knowledge transfer (Chang, Gong, Peng, 2012). However, sending several expatriates could be very important in order to understand the joint venture organization (Interviewee #3).

Collective teaching seems to be an excellent mean for transferring collective knowledge which is embedded in corporate structure, as well as being a seemingly great way of transferring knowledge which is behavioral. Collective teaching facilitated immensely for Volkswagen when they later modified their models in their joint venture sites (Zhao, Anand, Mitchell, 2004).

As a knowledge transfer mechanism, joint projects seems to be an efficient and excellent measure (Interviewee #2), (Interviewee #3) where a knowledge transfer platform is formalized, which encourages knowledge transfer (Inkpen, 2008). The exposure of collective elements in such projects could have the same benefits as collective teaching (Zhao, Anand, 2009).

### 5.2.5 Disadvantages of Knowledge Transfer

It is possible that knowledge transfer could disrupt working processes, something which depends on the complexity of the measures (Interviewee #2). It seems that knowledge transfer can be substitutable to organizational learning instead of complementing (Argote, 2013). For these reasons the transfer of knowledge often seems to be best assessed through the gradual process, in order not to overwhelm the joint venture subsidiary (Interviewee #1). It is also possible that the tools and organizational structure needed for knowledge transfer is not available in China (Interviewee #2), where they have to be upgraded first before certain elements can be transferred, otherwise attempts to implement them could only be complicating operations. The cost of knowledge also has to be weighed against the advantages (Levine, Prietula, 2011).

## 6. Conclusions

### 6.1 A Conclusion of the Two Research Questions

### 6.1.1 Which Knowledge Should Be Transferred

There are several competences that we consider necessary to upgrade in order to increase the competitiveness of the Chinese automotive organizations. The general problem of the loss of low-cost production advantages, accentuates the need to develop competencies related to quality, productivity, innovation, green technology and internal collaboration.

When it comes to quality, the Chinese automotive organizations have a hard time to match the world-class automotive manufacturers in their produced goods. Productivity and innovative capacity is considered low due to the lack of skilled workers and the organizational structure, since the closed and hierarchical structure is hampering internal collaboration. Finally we have identified an issue of responding to changed emission standards both in production and in produced goods which emphasizes the need for Chinese automotive companies to upgrade their technological know-how associated to green technologies to be able to survive under increased legislative pressure.

We believe that the lack of these competences derive from both a lack of collective knowledge in the organizations as well as individual knowledge of the employees.

The organizational structure and strict hierarchy of the Chinese automotive companies is creating a framework that is discouraging the creation and accumulation of collective knowledge, where collective knowledge is a product of the shared knowledge of an organization and the organization's ability to use this knowledge. The amount of shared knowledge depends on the total individual knowledge of the members of an organization and how the structure of the organization allows this individual knowledge to be dispersed.

The prevailing structure of the organizations thwarts collective knowledge accumulations since it deters; free-thinking and creativity, employee engagement in decision making, innovation connected to problem solving in processes or the upgrading of processes, innovation connected to the development of new products or services, the tendency to share information within the organization, the tendency of employees not to admit their lack of knowledge or competence and since it is discouraging knowledge retention within the organizations.

Secondly, in the complex contemporary automotive industry, the importance of competent, skilled and experienced employees who can stand for autonomous problem solving and decision making has become rudimentary. The skilled employees have a direct effect on productivity, growth and the innovative competences in organizations as they have the necessary skills for the adaptation, implementation and creation of new technologies and processes. Not only because individuals are depositories of individual knowledge but also because they serve as bearers of, and network links in the collective knowledge of an organization. Organizational structures that discourage knowledge retention within organizations therefore have a direct effect on the ability to upgrade competences. We therefore also believe that many of the problems for the Chinese automotive organizations exist because they have been negligent to invest in and retain their personnel.

These structural problems of the organization's and the skill problem of individuals, make competence building difficult in the Chinese automotive organizations and ultimately affects the possibility for the Chinese automotive organizations to upgrade the competences that we have brought forward as most needed.

We believe that most but not all Western automotive companies possess the necessary knowledge, strategies and competences needed to create organizational structures that are successful in responding to the problems of the Chinese organizations.

These are competences that are connected to creating an organizational structure that engage employees in the decision making process, encourages free-thinking and knowledge seeking, promotes knowledge dispersion, and where the development and training of employees is highly valued.

Many Western automotive companies also seem to possess the necessary motivational tools to succeed in knowledge retention on the Chinese market, such as offering Chinese employees recognition and appreciation, training and development opportunities, flat and inclusive organizations with little hierarchy, international working opportunities and good work-life balance which stands in line with the beginning shift of employee motivations in China.

Western companies who want to upgrade the competences of their joint venture subsidiaries in China should therefore focus on transferring knowledge connected to managerial principles and organizational structures.

The transfer of managerial principles and organizational structural competences can help to turn the joint venture subsidiaries into organizations characterized by knowledge sharing, creation and accumulation, which increases the collective knowledge. We believe that this increase in knowledge will lead to a greater innovativeness with the ability to create and improve processes, products and services.

By transferring knowledge and competences that turns the subsidiary into a knowledge sharing, accumulating and developing organization, the Western parent firm also creates an organizational culture within the subsidiary that is more susceptible to new information, that is, increasing its absorptive capacity. This will increase the speed of further knowledge transfer into the joint venture subsidiary, as well as enabling the organization to absorb and disperse more complex information. These structural improvements are more important than individual training of the employees in increasing the absorptive capacity of the joint venture subsidiary. We also believe young people to be key to implementing this sort of flat corporate structure because they are more open to new ideas and ways of thinking.

### 6.1.2 How to Successfully Transfer Knowledge

Increasing the absorptive capacity of the joint venture subsidiary is necessary to transfer knowledge effectively. But the absorptive capacity is not only dependent on the collective knowledge of the joint venture subsidiary, it is also dependent on joint characteristics between the sender of information and the receiver. Being able to communicate effectively between the parties will be a factor increasing the absorptive capacity. Most multinational organizations use English as their main language for communication within the organization. Therefore improving the proficiency in English among the employees in the joint venture subsidiary is vital for efficient direct communication between the foreign parent and the members of the joint venture subsidiary. However using interpreters could increase the emphasis placed on understanding and listening, although in the long run an emphasis on a better direct communication increases the speed of knowledge transfer speed as well as increasing the possibility of transferring complex knowledge. Being able to communicate effectively is also

important for the cooperation between the partners, where young people which often have greater proficiency in English, once again play an important role.

In order to enable knowledge transfer to the joint venture subsidiary it is fundamental for the joint venture partners to agree on goals of knowledge transfer. Being sensitive to cultural differences and establishing and maintaining a good relationship is essential for the transfer of knowledge.

To improve the organizational structure of the joint venture subsidiary the transfer of organizational knowledge and organizational values is needed, which is tacit in its nature. In order to efficiently transfer tacit knowledge, face-to-face communication is immensely important. Without face-to-face communication the tacit elements are impossible to transfer. Some elements of improving the organizational structure can be transferred by individual expatriates. For example using experienced expatriates with cultural understanding of China is incredibly efficient in the sense that expatriates can transfer the network of an organization and thereby transferring knowledge which is embedded in the corporate structure and therefore collective. The most efficient way for an expatriate to transfer knowledge is possibly to have an apprentice working alongside with the expatriate; as some aspects of the organizational mechanisms that the foreign parent would like to transfer to the joint venture subsidiary could be demonstrated. However when transferring types of collective knowledge that are based on cooperative aspects between the members of an organization, collective teaching is needed. This is the case when the understanding of the corporate structure is dependent on the understanding of the interactions of members of that organization. In order to implement the organizational structure of such an organization, the behavioral patterns of the organization needs to be understood, something which could only be achieved by observation. To enable observers to learn from these processes either a sufficient number of expatriates could be sent to the joint venture subsidiary or it could be achieved by sending employees from the joint venture subsidiary to the foreign parent organization.

The use of joint projects between the foreign partner and the joint venture is a platform which provides the basis for extensive knowledge transfer between the parties, where the same benefits as with collective teaching could be achieved. It is important to understand that the implementation of new measures is something which should be approached gradually, because a rapid transformation is likely to disrupt working processes.

#### 6.2 Contributions

Our study shows that the Western automotive parent firms should focus on knowledge transfer associated to the establishment of new organizational structures and managerial principles. Most of the problems faced by the Chinese automotive industry derives from difficulties of retaining skilled personnel which makes competence building hard and that the Chinese organizations are not knowledge sharing, accumulating and creating organizations. By creating knowledge orientated organizations with a high knowledge retention, not only will the Chinese subsidiaries be able to absorb competences associated directly to their faced issues but it will also facilitate any future knowledge transfer between the organizations.

We have also reached the conclusion that to transfer this specific knowledge, in the context of the Chinese automotive industry, extensive observation and communication is needed between the partner firms and the use of joint projects is than an excellent mean to provide platforms where this knowledge sharing can take place.

## 6.3 Suggestions for Future Research

There are certain aspects that would allow for a more thorough and comprehensible understanding of the subject. Firstly an investigation into the role and effect of the Chinese government would be interesting due to the control it exercises over the Chinese automotive industry and thus, in a way, the success of the knowledge transfer and implementation of new structures and principles. Also, engaging in discussions with Chinese organizations that operate in the automotive industry and look at the experienced problems and needs from their perspective would facilitate in making a deeper analysis of the subjects. Finally, attempts could be made to measure the success of knowledge transfer in a quantitative way to receive a better understanding of exactly what strategies of knowledge transfer that would be most suitable and successful in the context of knowledge transfer from Western parent firms to their Chinese joint venture subsidiaries in the Chinese automotive industry.

## 7. References

#### 7.1 List of Works Cited

Allen, T. 1977. Managing the Flow of Technology: Technology Transfer and the Dissemination of Technological Information Within the R&D Organization. MIT Press, Cambridge, MA (1977).

Allen. S, Echevarria.J, Wince-Smith. D, 2013. *Global manufacturing Competitiveness Index*. Deloitte. [Online] Available at: <a href="http://www.deloitte.com/assets/Dcom-UnitedStates/Local%20Assets/Documents/us\_pip\_GMCI\_11292012.pdf">http://www.deloitte.com/assets/Dcom-UnitedStates/Local%20Assets/Documents/us\_pip\_GMCI\_11292012.pdf</a> [Accessed 13 April, 2014]

Antal, A. Dierkes, M. Marz, L. 1999. *Organizational Learning in China, Germany and Israel*. Journal of General Management, p. 63-88 (1999) [Online] Available at: < <a href="http://www2000.wzb.eu/alt/inno/pdf/ol\_in\_china\_germany\_and\_israel\_neu.pdf">http://www2000.wzb.eu/alt/inno/pdf/ol\_in\_china\_germany\_and\_israel\_neu.pdf</a> >[Accessed 5 May 2014]

Argote, L. 2013. Learning, Creating, Retaining and Transferring Knowledge. 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition, Springer (2013) [Online] Available at: <a href="http://link.springer.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/book/10.1007%2F978-1-4614-5251-5">http://link.springer.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/book/10.1007%2F978-1-4614-5251-5</a>> [Accessed 12 April 2014]

Athanassiou, N. Nigh, D. 2000. *Internationalization, Tacit Knowledge and the Top Management Teams of MNCs*. Journal of International Business Studies, Vol 31, No 3, (2000) [Online] Available at: <

http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/stable/155652?seq=15>[Accessed 5 May 2014]

Balcet, G. 2014. *Joint Ventures, Technology Acquisition and Emerging Multinationals: The Case of the Chinese Automotive Industry.* Strategies of Multinational Corporations and Social Regulations p. 92-106 [Online] Available at: <a href="http://link.springer.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/book/10.1007%2F978-3-642-41369-8">http://link.springer.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/book/10.1007%2F978-3-642-41369-8</a> [Accessed 17 April, 2014]

Bamford, J. Ernst, D. Fubini, D. 2004. *Launching a World-Class Joint Venture*. Harvard Business Review, Vol. 82, Issue 2, p 90-100 (2004) [Online] Available at: <a href="http://web.a.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/ehost/detail?sid=fe903f19-41d8-4059-a293-8c15d9b3e997%40sessionmgr4002&vid=1&hid=4112&bdata=JnNpdGU9ZWhvc3QtbGl2ZQ%3d%3d#db=buh&AN=12109120>[Accessed 15 April 2014]

Ban. L, Belzowski.B, Gumbrich. S, Zhao. J, 2005. *Inside China - The Chinese view their automotive future*. IBM Business Consulting Services. [Online] Available at: <://www-935.ibm.com/services/us/imc/pdf/ge510-6229-inside-china.pdf.> [Accessed 3 April, 2014]

Buckley, P. Clegg, J. Tan, H. 2004. *Knowledge Transfer to China: Policy Lessons from Foreign Affiliates*. Transnational Corporations, Vol 13, No 1, April 2004 [Online] Available at: <a href="http://unctad.org/en/Docs/iteiit20043a2\_en.pdf">http://unctad.org/en/Docs/iteiit20043a2\_en.pdf</a>> [Accessed 14 April 2014]

Buckley, P. Clegg, J. Tan, H. 2006. *Cultural Awareness in Knowledge Transfer to China – The Role of Guanxi and Mianzi*. Journal of World Business 41, 2006 p. 275-288 [Online] Available at:<a href="http://ac.els-cdn.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/S1090951606000095/1-s2.0-S1090951606000095-main.pdf?\_tid=0a0d830a-d1fe-11e3-ab86-00000aacb360&acdnat=1399037657\_c06818d44cef7bcc7a9c5923671a9c89>[Accessed 2 May 2014]

Business Dictionary, 2014. *Definition of Parent firm/Parent company*. [Online] Available at: < http://www.businessdictionary.com/definition/parent-company.html>

Cantrell. S, Robbins.J, Smith. D, 2011. *Solving the skills crisis in the automotive industry*. Accenture. [Online] Available at:<a href="http://www.accenture.com/us-en/outlook/Pages/outlook-online-2011-solving-skills-crisis-automotive-industry.aspx">http://www.accenture.com/us-en/outlook/Pages/outlook-online-2011-solving-skills-crisis-automotive-industry.aspx</a> [Accessed 13 April, 2014]

Chang. C, 2013. *Is China running out of workers?* Forbes. [Online] Available at: <a href="http://www.forbes.com/sites/gordonchang/2013/01/20/is-china-running-out-of-workers/">http://www.forbes.com/sites/gordonchang/2013/01/20/is-china-running-out-of-workers/</a> [Accessed 2 April, 2014)

Chang, Y. Smale, A. 2013. *Expatriate characteristics and the stickiness of HRM knowledge transfers*. The International Journal of Human Resource Management, Vol. 24, Issue, 12 (2013) [Online] Available at: <

http://www.tandfonline.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/doi/abs/10.1080/09585192.2013.781436#.U3jf RShPcSw>[Accessed 10 May 2014]

Chang, Y. Gong, Y. Peng, M, 2012. Expatriate Knowledge Transfer, Subsidiary Absorptive Capacity, and Subsidiary Performance. Academy of Management Journal, Vol., 55, No., 4, 927-948 (2012) [Online] Available at:

< http://www.utdallas.edu/~mikepeng/documents/Peng12AMJ\_ChangGong\_55\_4\_Aug\_927-948.pdf > [Accessed 10 April 2014]

Chao.W, 2013. *Truck makers pin hopes on urbanization amid slump*. China Daily. [Online] Available at: <a href="http://www.chinadaily.com.cn/business/motoring/2013-11/11/content\_17094625.htm">http://www.chinadaily.com.cn/business/motoring/2013-11/11/content\_17094625.htm</a> [Accessed 30 March, 2014]

China.cn, 2011. *Major Problems Faced by Top 500 Manufacturers of China in 2010*. [Online] Available at: <a href="http://www.china.org.cn/top10/Top\_500\_Enterprises\_of\_China/2011-05/19/content\_22684626.htm">http://www.china.org.cn/top10/Top\_500\_Enterprises\_of\_China/2011-05/19/content\_22684626.htm</a>> [Accessed 1 April, 2014]

China Labour Bulletin, 2013. *Employment in China*. [Online] Available at: <a href="http://www.clb.org.hk/en/view-resource-centre-content/100060">http://www.clb.org.hk/en/view-resource-centre-content/100060</a>> [Accessed 3 April, 2014]

China Labour Bulletin, 2013. *Wages in China*. [Online] Available at:<a href="http://www.clb.org.hk/en/content/wages-china">http://www.clb.org.hk/en/content/wages-china</a> [Accessed 19 March, 2014]

Cohen, W. Levinthal, D. 1990. *Absorptive Capacity: A New Perspective on Learning and Innovation*. Administrative Science Quarterly, Vol. 35, No. 1, Special Issue: Technology,

Organizations, and Innovation, pp. 128-152 (1990) [Online] Available at:<a href="http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/stable/2393553">http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/stable/2393553</a>[Accessed 11 April 2014]

Cummings, J. Teng, B. 2003. *Transferring R&D Knowledge: The Key Factors Affecting Knowledge Transfer Success*. Journal of Engineering and Management, Vol 20, p. 39-68 (2003) [Online] Available at:

<a href="http://wwwme.nchu.edu.tw/~CIM/courses/Computer%20Integrated%20Manufacturing/x2008%20paper%20reading%201/18%20Transferring%20R%26D%20knowledge-%20the%20key%20factors%20affecting%20knowledge%20transfer%20success.pdf">http://wwwme.nchu.edu.tw/~CIM/courses/Computer%20Integrated%20Manufacturing/x2008%20paper%20reading%201/18%20Transferring%20R%26D%20knowledge-%20the%20key%20factors%20affecting%20knowledge%20transfer%20success.pdf</a> >[Accessed 28 April 2014]

Curtis.T, 2011. *Danwei: China and social enterprise*. Senior lecturer at University of Northampton. [Online] Available at: <a href="http://www.academia.edu/478925/Danwei"><a href="http://www.academia.edu/478925/Danwei</a> China and social enterprise.> [Accessed 2 April, 2014]

Darby, R. 1995. *Developing the Euro-Manager: Managing in a Multicultural Environment*. European Business Review, Vol. 95 Iss: 1, pp.13 – 15 [Online] Available at: <a href="http://www.emeraldinsight.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/journals.htm?articleid=869038">http://www.emeraldinsight.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/journals.htm?articleid=869038</a> [Accessed 22 April 2014]

Ding, Q. 2013. Inter-Partner Interactions and Knowledge Transfer Mechanisms in the Chinese Automotive Industry: A Qualitative Research Bases on Dual Managerial Perceptions. Strategic Organization May 2004 vol. 2 no. 2 133-167, (2004). [Online] Available at: <a href="http://soq.sagepub.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/content/2/2/133.full.pdf+html">http://soq.sagepub.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/content/2/2/133.full.pdf+html</a> [Accessed 12 May 2014]

Drucker Society, 2010. *The Challenge to Rekindle China's Innovative Spirit.* [Online] Available at:<<u>http://druckersociety.at/repository/scientific/Kriz.pdf</u>> [Accessed 4 April, 2014]

Dyer, J. Hatch, N. 2006. Relation – Specific Capabilities and Barriers to Knowledge Transfers: Creating Advantage Trough Network Relationships Mergers and Competition Policy. Strategic Management Journal, 27: 701-719 (2006) [Online] Available at: <a href="http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/doi/10.1002/smj.543/pdf">http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/doi/10.1002/smj.543/pdf</a> [Accessed 2 May 2014]

Eisenhardt, K. 1989. Building theories from case study research. The academy of management review. Vol. 14. p 532-550. [Online] Available at:<<a href="http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/stable/258557?">http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/stable/258557?</a> redirected <a href="https://gupea.ub.gu.se/bitstream/2077/32639/1/gupea\_2077\_32639\_1.pdf">https://gupea.ub.gu.se/bitstream/2077/32639/1/gupea\_2077\_32639\_1.pdf</a>>

Ellström. P-E, Henrik.K, 2008. *Competence Development in the Workplace: Concepts, Strategies and Effects. Asia Pacific Education Review 2008, Vol. 9, p, 5-20.* [Online] Available at: <a href="http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ811091.pdf">http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ811091.pdf</a>> [Accessed 10 April, 2014]

Eloot.K, Strube.G, Wang.A, 2013. *Capability building in China*. McKinsey & Company. [Online] Available at: <a href="http://www.mckinsey.com/insights/asia-pacific/capability\_building\_in\_china">http://www.mckinsey.com/insights/asia-pacific/capability\_building\_in\_china</a> [Accessed 1 April, 2014]

Eloot.K, Strube.G, Wang.A, n.d. *China's manufacturing challenge (Video interview)*. McKinsey&Company. [Online] Available at:<a href="http://www.mckinsey.com/insights/asia-pacific/chinas\_manufacturing\_challenge">http://www.mckinsey.com/insights/asia-pacific/chinas\_manufacturing\_challenge</a>> [Accessed 1 April, 2014]

Eriksson, P. Kovalainen, A. 2008. *Qualitative Methods in Business Research*. London, England: SAGE Publications Ltd (2008). [Online] Available at:<a href="http://srmo.sagepub.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/view/qualitative-methods-in-business-research/SAGE.xml">http://srmo.sagepub.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/view/qualitative-methods-in-business-research/SAGE.xml</a> . [Accessed 7 May, 2014]

Fernandez, A. Liu, S. 2007. *China CEO - A Case Guide to Business Leaders in China*. John Wiley & Sons Pte Ltd (2007)

Fink, G. Holden, N. 2005. *The Global Transfer of Management Knowledge*. Academy of Management Executive, Vol 19, No 2, (2005) [Online] Available at: <a href="http://wwwme.nchu.edu.tw/~CIM/courses/Computer%20Integrated%20Manufacturing/x2008%20paper%20reading%201/18%20Transferring%20R%26D%20knowledge-%20the%20key%20factors%20affecting%20knowledge%20transfer%20success.pdf</a> >[Accessed 5 May 2014]

Frenkel. S, Li.M, 2010. *Cultural cohesion: Do you know what Chinese workers want?* Australian School of Business.[Online] Available at:<a href="http://knowledge.asb.unsw.edu.au/article.cfm?articleid=1042">http://knowledge.asb.unsw.edu.au/article.cfm?articleid=1042</a>> [Accessed 4 April, 2014]

Ghauri, P. Grønhaug, K. 2005. *Research Methods in Business Studies: A Practical Guide*. Pearson Education Limited, 3rd Edition (2005).

Ghosal, S. Korine, H. Szulanski, G. 1994. *Interunit Communication in Multinational Corporations*. Management Science, Vol. 40, p. 96-110 (1994) [Online] Available at: <a href="http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/stable/2632847">http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/stable/2632847</a>>[Accessed 7 May 2014]

Goh.A, Sullivan. M, 2010. *The 5 Biggest Challenges Businesses Face When They Expand To China*. Business Insider. [Online] Available at:<<u>http://www.businessinsider.com/the-five-biggest-practical-challenges-for-foreign-smes-in-the-chinese-market-2010-12</u>> [Accessed 1 April, 2014]

Gupta, A. Govindarajan, V. 2000. *Knowledge Flows Within Multinational Corporations*. Strategic Management Journal, Vol 21, pp. 473-496 (2000) [Online] Available at: <a href="http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/doi/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0266(200004)21:4%3C473::AID-SMJ84%3E3.0.CO;2-I/pdf>[Accessed 6 May 2014]

Hamel, G. 1991. *Competition for Competence and Inter-Partner Learning Within International Strategic Alliances*. Strategic Management Journal, Vol 12, 83-103 (1991) [Online] Available at:

<a href="http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/doi/10.1002/smj.4250120908/pdf">http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/doi/10.1002/smj.4250120908/pdf</a>[Accesse d 3 May 2014]

Hartmann.E, Feisel.E, Schober.H, 2010. *Talent management of Western MNCs in China: Balancing global integration and local responsiveness*. Journal of World Business. [Online] Available

at:<a href="http://www.sciencedirect.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/science/article/pii/S1090951609000741#">http://www.sciencedirect.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/science/article/pii/S1090951609000741#</a> [Accessed 1 April, 2014]

Holme, H. Solvang, B. 1997. Forskningsmetodik: om kvalitativa och kvantitativa metoder. Lund: studentlitteratur

Hong, J. Easterby-Smith, M. Stanley Snell, R. 2006. *Transferring Organizational Learning Systems to Japanese Subsidiaries in China*. Journal of Management Studies Vol, 43, Issue 5, 2006 [Online] Available at:

<a href="http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/doi/10.1111/j.1467-6486.2006.00628.x/pdf">http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/doi/10.1111/j.1467-6486.2006.00628.x/pdf</a> [Accessed 29 April 2014]

Hoon-Halbauer, S. 1999. *Managing Relationships Within Sino-Foreign Joint Ventures*. Journal of World Business, Volume 34, Issue 4, Winter 1999, Pages 344–371 (1999) [Online] Available at:

<a href="http://www.sciencedirect.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/science/article/pii/S1090951699000231">http://www.sciencedirect.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/science/article/pii/S1090951699000231</a> [A ccessed 13 May 2014]

Inkpen, A. 1998. *Learning, Knowledge, Acquistion, and Strategic Alliances*. European Management Journal, 16 (2) pp. 223-229 [Online] Available at: <a href="http://ac.els-cdn.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/S026323739700090X/1-s2.0-S026323739700090X-main.pdf">http://ac.els-cdn.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/S026323739700090X/1-s2.0-S026323739700090X-main.pdf</a>? \_tid=6df7422e-d047-11e3-b70e-00000aab0f01&acdnat=1398849275\_f06592b9bdae3fd790e3e4988a369edd> [Accessed 30 April 2014]

Inkpen, A. 2008. *Knowledge Transfer and International Joint Ventures: The Case of Nummi and General Motors*. Strategic Management Journal, Vol 29, No. 4. p. 447-453 (2008) [Online] Available at: <

Jacob.R, Waldmeir.P, 2011. *Chinese companies struggle to find workers*. Financial Times. [Online] Available at:<a href="http://www.ft.com/intl/cms/s/0/c199b2a8-3dbb-11e0-ae2a-00144feabdc0.html?siteedition=intl#axzz2ywmMjZzA">http://www.ft.com/intl/cms/s/0/c199b2a8-3dbb-11e0-ae2a-00144feabdc0.html?siteedition=intl#axzz2ywmMjZzA</a> [Accessed 27 March, 2014]

Jacobsen, D. I. (2002). Vad, hur och varför?: Om metodvalen i företagsekonomi och andra samhällsvetenskapliga ämnen. Studentlitteratur, Lund

Jeffries, F. Reed. R. 2000. *Trust and Adaptation in Relational Contracting*. The Academy of Management Review, Vol. 25, No. 4, p. 873-882 (2000)[Online] Available at: < <a href="http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/stable/259212">http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/stable/259212</a>>[Accessed 10 May 2014]

Kalmbach. R, Landmann.R, 2011. *Automotive insights*. Roland Berger Strategy Consultants. [Online] Available

at:<<u>http://www.rolandberger.com/media/pdf/Roland\_Berger\_Automotive\_inSIGHTS\_2\_2011\_20111021.pdf</u>> [Accessed April 5, 2014]

Kandemir.D, Hult. T, 2005. A conceptualization of an organizational learning culture in international joint ventures. Industrial Marketing management 34. [Online] Available at:<a href="http://www.sciencedirect.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/science/article/pii/S0019850104001221">http://www.sciencedirect.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/science/article/pii/S0019850104001221</a> [Accessed 1 April, 2014]

Koehler. C, Haddock. R, n.d. *China's Auto Policy – Structured for success?* Auto Focus Asia. [Online] Available at: <a href="http://www.autofocusasia.com/management/china\_auto\_policy.htm">http://www.autofocusasia.com/management/china\_auto\_policy.htm</a>.> [Accessed 19 March, 2014]

Kogut, B. 1988. *Joint Ventures: Theoretical and Empirical Perspectives*. Strategic Management Journal Vol. 9, p.319-332, (1988) [Online] Available at: <a href="http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/stable/2486268">http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/stable/2486268</a> [Accessed 12 May 2014]

Kogut, B. Zander, U. 1992. *Knowledge of the Firm and the Evolutionary of the Multinational Corporation*. Organization Science Vol. 3,p. 387-397, August 1992 [Online] Available at: <a href="http://aib.msu.edu/awards/24\_4\_93\_625.pdf">http://aib.msu.edu/awards/24\_4\_93\_625.pdf</a>> [Accessed 25 April 2014]

Langemar, P. 2008. Kvalitativ forskningsmetod i psykologi: att låta en värld öppna sig. 2 edition, Liber, Stockholm

Landesmann.M, Leitner.S, Stehrerand.R Ward.T, Skills and Industrial Competitiveness, wiiw Research Reports, No. 356, August 2009. [Online] Available at: <a href="http://wiiw.ac.at/skills-and-industrial-competitiveness-p-1905.html">http://wiiw.ac.at/skills-and-industrial-competitiveness-p-1905.html</a> [Accessed 14 April, 2014]

Levine, S. Preitula, M. 2011. *How Knowledge Transfer Impacts Performance: A Multilevel Model of the Benefits and Liabilities*. Organization Science, Articles in Advance, p.1-19 (2011) [Online] Available at: <a href="http://neuropolicy.emory.edu/assets/documents/levine-prietula-os-2011.pdf">http://neuropolicy.emory.edu/assets/documents/levine-prietula-os-2011.pdf</a>>[Accessed 2 May 2014]

Levitt, B. March, J. 1988. *Organizational Learning*. Annual Review of Sociology, Vol 14, p. 319-340 (1988) [Online] Available at:

<a href="http://www.education.umd.edu/EDPA/courses/EDPL744-">http://www.education.umd.edu/EDPA/courses/EDPL744-</a>

> [Accessed 2 April, 2014]

06/5.1.06% 20Levitt% 20and% 20March% 20Organizational% 20Learning 1988.pdf>[Accessed 28 April 2014]

Lewis. R, Heckman. R, 2006. *Talent management: A critical review*. Human Resource Management Review. [Online] Available at:<a href="http://www.sciencedirect.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/science/article/pii/S1053482206000271#">http://www.sciencedirect.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/science/article/pii/S1053482206000271#</a>

Lin.C, Zhiyong.Z, 2014. Foreign auto firms in China may see 50% stake limit lifted. Want China times. [Online] Available at:<a href="http://www.wantchinatimes.com/news-subclass-cnt.aspx?id=20140319000004&cid=1202">http://www.wantchinatimes.com/news-subclass-cnt.aspx?id=20140319000004&cid=1202</a> [Accessed 15 April, 2014]

Lindlof, T. Taylor, B. 2011. Qualitative communication research methods. 3 ed. SAGE publications

Lyles. M, Salk.J, 1996. *Knowledge acquisition from foreign parents in international joint ventures: An Empirical Examination In The Hungarian Context*. Journal of international business studies. [Online] Available

at:<a href="http://jpkc.swufe.edu.cn/up\_files/File/cankaowenxian/yingwen/KNOWLEDGE%20ACQUISITION%20FROM%20FOREIGN%20PARENTS%20IN%20INTERNATIONAL%20JOINT%20VENTURES%20AN%20EMPIRICAL%20EXAMINATION%20IN%20THE%20HUNGARIAN%20CONTEXT.pdf">http://jpkc.swufe.edu.cn/up\_files/File/cankaowenxian/yingwen/KNOWLEDGE%20ACQUISITION%20FROM%20FROM%20FROM%20JOIN%20IN%20IN%20JOIN%20J

Magnus. G, 2012. *China is losing its manufacturing lead*. Financial Times. [Online] Available at:<<u>http://www.ft.com/intl/cms/s/0/42b07034-fc3d-11e1-ac0f-00144feabdc0.html#axzz2yOd9RGTs</u>> [Accessed 28 March, 2014]

Metters.R, King-Metters. K, 2008. *Misunderstanding the Chinese worker. Western impressions are dated – and probably wrong*. The Wall Street Journal. [Online] Available at:<a href="http://online.wsj.com/news/articles/SB121441282707703883">http://online.wsj.com/news/articles/SB121441282707703883</a>> [Accessed 23 March, 2014]

Minbaeva, D. 2007. *Knowledge Transfer in Multinational Corporations*. Management International Review, Vol 47, pp. 567-593 (2007) [Online] Available at: <a href="http://download.springer.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/static/pdf/842/art%253A10.1007%252Fs115">http://download.springer.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/static/pdf/842/art%253A10.1007%252Fs115</a> 75-007-0030-

4.pdf?auth66=1399474739\_23c56327a59978fa16c837f47306194b&ext=.pdf>[Accessed 5 May 2014]

Minbaeva, D. Pedersen, T. Björkman, I. Fey, C. Park, H. 2003. *MNC Knowledge Transfer, Subsidiary Absorptive Capacity, and HRM*. Journal of International Business Studies, Vol 34, p. 586-599 (2003) [Online] Available at:

<a href="http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/stable/3557196">http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/stable/3557196</a>>[Accessed 5 May 2014]

Nam, K. 2010. Learning Through the International Joint Venture: Lessons from the Experience of China's Automotive Sector. Industrial and Corporate Change, Vol 20, Issue 3 p. 855-907 (2011) [Online] Available at:

<a href="http://dcsh.xoc.uam.mx/eii/globelicswp/wp1001.pdf">http://dcsh.xoc.uam.mx/eii/globelicswp/wp1001.pdf</a> [Accessed 14 May 2014]

Nonaka, I. Takeuchi, H. 1995. *The Knowledge-Creating Company: How Japanese Companies Create the Dynamics of Innovation*. Oxford University Press (1995)

Oxford Dictionary. 2014. Oxford University Press. [Online] Available at: www.oxforddictionaries.com [Accessed 10 May, 2014]

Paritzky.L, 2011. *Management Success*. Interview with Ms. Einat Tzur, Executive Manager of the Israeli Chamber of Commerce in Beijing. [Online] Available at: <a href="http://laowaiblog.com/managing-success/">http://laowaiblog.com/managing-success/</a>> [Accessed 28 March, 2014]

Price.M, Bourgois.E, 2012. *What Chinese employees want*. American Chamber of Commerce in China.[Online] Available at: <a href="http://www.amchamchina.org/article/10544">http://www.amchamchina.org/article/10544</a>.> [Accessed 7 April, 2014]

Raynaud.C, Eagan.A. 2013. *Company Culture in Building a Strong and Stable Workforce in China. China Business Review*. [Online] Available at:<a href="http://www.chinabusinessreview.com/company-culture-in-building-a-strong-and-stable-at-strong-at-str

workforce-in-china/> [Accessed 5 April, 2014]

Road safety Authority, 2013. Euro IV, Euro V and VI Emissions Regulations for Heavy Duty Vehicle. [Online] Available at:

<a href="mailto:specification-serification-s

Rowe.W, 2013. *China tightens Air Pollution Standards*. China-US Focus. Available through: <a href="http://www.chinausfocus.com/energy-environment/china-tightens-air-pollution-standards/">http://www.chinausfocus.com/energy-environment/china-tightens-air-pollution-standards/</a> [Accessed 1 April, 2014]

Ruggles, R. 1998. The State of the Notion: Knowledge Management in Practice. California Management Review, Vol. 40, No. 3 (1998) [Online] Available at: <a href="https://www.ischool.utexas.edu/~i385q-dt/readings/Ruggles-1998-State">https://www.ischool.utexas.edu/~i385q-dt/readings/Ruggles-1998-State of the Notion.pdf</a>>[Accessed 2 May 2014]

Russo. B, Tse.E, Ke.T, Peng.B, 2009. *The Eight Overarching China Automotive Trends That Are Revolutionizing the Auto Industry, Part 1*. Booz&co consultant agency. [Online] Available

at:<<u>http://www.strategyand.pwc.com/media/file/The\_Eight\_Overarching\_China\_Automotive\_</u>\_Trends\_en\_part\_1.pdf> [Accessed 26 March, 2014]

Russo. B, Tse.E, Ke.T, Peng.B, 2009. *The Eight Overarching China Automotive Trends That Are Revolutionizing the Auto Industry, Part 2*. Booz&co consultant agency. [Online] Available at:

<a href="http://www.strategyand.pwc.com/media/file/The Eight Overarching China Automotive T rends en part2.pdf">http://www.strategyand.pwc.com/media/file/The Eight Overarching China Automotive T rends en part2.pdf</a> [Accessed 18, March 2014]

Selmer, J. 2005. *Cross-cultural training and expatriate adjustment in China: Western joint venture managers*. Personnel Review, Vol 34, No. 1 p. 68-84 (2005) [Online] Available at: <a href="http://www.emeraldinsight.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/journals.htm?articleid=1463244">http://www.emeraldinsight.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/journals.htm?articleid=1463244</a>>[Accesse d 10 May 2014]

Shen.S, Shirouzu.N, 2014. China auto market seen cruising to another strong year. Reuters. [Online] Available at:

<a href="http://www.reuters.com/article/2014/01/12/us-autoshow-china-idUSBREA0B0DK20140112">http://www.reuters.com/article/2014/01/12/us-autoshow-china-idUSBREA0B0DK20140112</a> [Accessed 2 April, 2014]

Shields, P. Rangarajan. N, (2013) A Playbook for Research Methods: Integrating Conceptual Frameworks and Project Management. Edition 1. New Forums Press Inc

Shirouzu.N, 2009. *China's Auto Industry to Consolidate*. The Wall Street Journal. [Online] Available at: <a href="http://online.wsj.com/news/articles/SB123378507419349341">http://online.wsj.com/news/articles/SB123378507419349341</a>> [Accessed 29 March, 2014]

Shu. L, Liao. L, Bravery.K, 2011. *Inside employees' Minds. Navigting the new rules of engagement*. Mercer Consulting. [Online] Available at:<a href="http://www.mercer.com/pages/1456005">http://www.mercer.com/pages/1456005</a>> [Acessed 15 april, 2014]

Simonin, B. 1999. *Ambiguity and the Process of Knowledge Transfer in Strategic Alliances*. Strategic Management Journal Vol 20, No. 7 p. 595-623 (1999) [Online] Available at: <a href="http://www.istor.org.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/stable/3094131?seq=10">http://www.istor.org.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/stable/3094131?seq=10</a> [Accessed 28 April 2014]

Sreejesh, S. Mohapatra, S. Anusree, M. 2014. *Business Research Methods – An Applied Orientation*. Springer International Publishing Switzerland (2014). [Online] Available at:<a href="http://download.springer.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/static/pdf/452/bok%253A978-3-319-00539-3.pdf?auth66=1399813707\_f2cb74d35fb4ab42c9f1ac57e7613515&ext=.pdf">http://download.springer.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/static/pdf/452/bok%253A978-3-319-00539-3.pdf?auth66=1399813707\_f2cb74d35fb4ab42c9f1ac57e7613515&ext=.pdf</a> [Accessed 7 May, 2014]

Szulanski, G. 1996. Exploring Internal Stickiness: Impediments to the Transfer of Best Practice Within the Firm. Strategic Management Journal, Vol. 17, Special Issue: Knowledge and the Firm pp. 27-43 (1996)[Online] Available at: <a href="http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/stable/2486989">http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/stable/2486989</a> [Accessed 10 May 2014]

Szulanski, G. 2000. *The Process of Knowledge Transfer: A Diachronic Analysis of Stickiness*. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, Vol. 82, Issue 1, Pages 9–27 (2000) [Online] Available at:

<a href="http://www.sciencedirect.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/science/article/pii/S074959780092884X">http://www.sciencedirect.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/science/article/pii/S074959780092884X</a> [A ccessed 11 May 2014]

Tether.B, Mina.A, Consoli.D, Gagliardi.D, 2005. A literature Review on Skills and Innovations. How does Successful Innovation Impact on the Demand for Skills and How Do Skills Drive Innovation? [Online] Available at:<a href="http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/http:/www.berr.gov.uk/files/file11008.pdf">http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/http://www.berr.gov.uk/files/file11008.pdf</a> [Accessed 14 April, 2014]

Tham.E, 2013. Stuck in first gear: Chinese car manufacturers struggle to compete with foreign brands. Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business. [Online] Available at: <a href="http://knowledge.ckgsb.edu.cn/2013/07/30/china/chinese-car-manufacturers-struggle-to-compete-with-foreign-brands/">http://knowledge.ckgsb.edu.cn/2013/07/30/china/chinese-car-manufacturers-struggle-to-compete-with-foreign-brands/</a> [Accessed 1 April, 2014]

Tian, X. 2007. *Managing International Business in China*. Cambridge University Press (2007)

Tita, 2013. *China Develops a Taste for Expensive Trucks*. The Wall Street Journal. [Online] Available at:<<u>http://blogs.wsj.com/corporate-intelligence/2013/10/18/china-develops-a-taste-for-expensive-trucks/.> [Accessed 20 March, 2014]</u>

The Economist, 2007. *Manufacturing in Asia – The problem with made in China*. [Online] Available at: <a href="http://www.economist.com/node/8515811">http://www.economist.com/node/8515811</a>> [Accessed 3 April, 2014]

The World Bank, 2014. *China data*. [Online] Available at: <a href="http://data.worldbank.org/country/china">http://data.worldbank.org/country/china</a> [Accessed 1 May, 2014]

Tung. R, 2008. *Brain circulation, diaspora, and international competitiveness*. European Management Journal. [Online] Available at:<a href="http://www.sciencedirect.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/science/article/pii/S0263237308000388">http://www.sciencedirect.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/science/article/pii/S0263237308000388</a>> [Accessed 4 April, 2014]

Tung.R, Worm.V, 2001. Network Capitalism: the role of human resources in penetrating the China market. International Journal of Human Resource Management.

[Online] Available

at:<<u>http://web.a.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?sid=ba148540-aecc-4376-94e1-6ae64ec3cd17%40sessionmgr4005&vid=2&hid=4212</u>> [Accessed 1 April, 2014]

Varma, A. Pichler, S, Budhwar, P. Kupferer, S. 2012. *Expatriate-Local Interactions: An Investigation in China*. Journal of Managerial Psychology, Vol. 27 Issue 7, p.753 – 768 [Online] Available

at:<<u>http://www.emeraldinsight.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/journals.htm?issn=0268-3946&volume=27&issue=7&articleid=17053748&show=html</u>>

Waldmeir, 2010. *Chinese truck makers take on global groups*. Financial Times. [Online] Available at:<<a href="http://www.ft.com/intl/cms/s/0/0c965278-bb2d-11df-b3f4-00144feab49a.html?siteedition=uk#axzz2zofL54OA">http://www.ft.com/intl/cms/s/0/0c965278-bb2d-11df-b3f4-00144feab49a.html?siteedition=uk#axzz2zofL54OA</a>> [Accessed 1 April, 2014]

Walsh, J. Ungson, G. 1991. *Organizational Memory*. The Academy of Management Review. Vol. 16, No.1 (1991) [Online] Available at: <a href="http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/stable/258607">http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/stable/258607</a>[Accessed 2 May 2014]

Wang.A, Liao.W, Hein.A, 2012. *Bigger, better, broader: A perspective on China's auto market in 2020.* McKinsey&Company. [Online] Available at:<a href="http://www.google.se/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=2&cad=rja&uact=8">http://www.google.se/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=2&cad=rja&uact=8</a> &ved=0CDsQFjAB&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.mckinsey.com%2F~%2Fmedia%2Fmckinsey%2Fdotcom%2Fclient\_service%2FAutomotive%2520and%2520Assembly%2FPDFs%2FMcKinsey%2520%2520Perspective%2520on%2520Chinas%2520auto%2520market%2520in%25202020.ashx&ei=tLpgU4T6LsbNygPQ3YKoAg&usg=AFQjCNFMQO7r89egfD36n6MUh2re0uwIYg&sig2=39ivFs6Q-hd26ndsDmhHzQ&bvm=bv.65636070,d.bGQ>[Accessed 3 April, 2014]

Wang.Q, 2013. *China needs workers more than academics*. International weekly journal of Science. [Online] Available at:<<a href="http://www.nature.com/news/china-needs-workers-more-than-academics-1.13428">http://www.nature.com/news/china-needs-workers-more-than-academics-1.13428</a>> [Accessed 5 April, 2013]

Windelband.L (Dr.), Arold.H, Spöttl.G (Prof. Dr.), n.d. *The Development of the Automotive Industry in the People's Republic of China and its Consequences for Skilled Work*. Universität Bremen. [Online] Available at: <a href="http://www.inba--">http://www.inba--</a>

sh.de/fileadmin/download/Developments%20Automotive%20Industry%20and%20conclusion %20for%20skilled%20work.pdf> [Accessed 2 April, 2014]

Xie.Y, Lai.Q, Wu.X, 2010. *Danwei and social inequality in contemporary urban China*. US National Library of Medicine. [Online] Available at:<a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2828673/">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2828673/</a>> [Accessed 29 March, 2014]

Xinhua, 2014. *Labor shortage looms in Eastern China*. China Daily. [Online] Available at:<<u>http://www.chinadaily.com.cn/business/2014-02/21/content</u> 17298423.htm> [Accessed 1 April, 2014]

Xu, Kuangdi. 2005. Selected Works by Xu Kuangdi Iron & Steel and Metallurgy Volume. Shanghai: Shanghai University Press (2005)

Yan.G, 2011. *Poor reliability due to immature industry*. China car times. [Online] Available at: <a href="http://www.chinacartimes.com/2011/03/poor-reliability-due-to-immature-industry/">http://www.chinacartimes.com/2011/03/poor-reliability-due-to-immature-industry/</a> [Accessed 14 April, 2014]

Yan, Yanni. 2000. International Joint Ventures in China. MacMillan Press LTD (2000)

Yangpeng.Z, 2013. *China holds competitive edge*. China Daily. [Online] Available at: <a href="http://www.chinadaily.com.cn/m/hubei/travel/2013-01/23/content\_16160702.htm">http://www.chinadaily.com.cn/m/hubei/travel/2013-01/23/content\_16160702.htm</a> [Accessed 25 March]

Yin. R, (2003). Case study research: design and methods. 3. Ed. Sage publications

Ying, 2010. *China Ends U.S.* 's Reign as Largest Auto Market. Bloomberg News. [Online] Available at:

<a href="mailto:</a>/www.bloomberg.com/apps/news?pid=newsarchive&sid=aE.x\_r\_19NZE."> [Accessed 16 March, 2014]

Yu.R, 2013. *China Auto Execs Express Frustration With Industry Regulation*. The Wall Street Journal. [Online] Available at: <a href="http://blogs.wsj.com/chinarealtime/2013/10/18/china-auto-execs-express-frustration-with-industry-regulation/">http://blogs.wsj.com/chinarealtime/2013/10/18/china-auto-execs-express-frustration-with-industry-regulation/</a>> [Accessed 28 March, 2014]

Yuanzheng.C, Chiu.S, 2012. *China's manufacturing sector faces 3 major challenges: experts*. Want China Times. [Online] Available at:<<u>http://www.wantchinatimes.com/news-subclass-cnt.aspx?id=20120710000056&cid=1102> [Accessed 28 March, 2014].</u>

Zhao, Z. Anand, J, Mitchell, W. 2004. *Transferring Collective Knowledge: Teaching and Learning in the Chinese Auto Industry*. Strategic Organization May 2004 vol. 2 no. 2 133-167, (2004). [Online] Available at:

< http://soq.sagepub.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/content/2/2/133.full.pdf+html> [Accessed 12 May 2014]

Zhao, Z. Anand, J. 2009 A Multilevel Perspective on Knowledge Transfer: Evidence from the Chinese Automotive Industry. Strategic Management Journal 30, p. 959-983. Wiley & Sons LTD [Online] Available at:

<a href="http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/doi/10.1002/smj.780/pdf">http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/doi/10.1002/smj.780/pdf</a> [Accessed 8 April 2014]

#### 7.2 Interviews

Interviewee #1, Mats Ahlin, Director - Alliance Office at Volvo Group, interviewed in person, 2014-05-08

Interviewee #2, Jan Garp, TSM Joint Ventures APAC - Volvo Group, interviewed in person, 2014-05-08

Interviewee #3, Dan Paulin, University lecturer and Vice-prefect at Chalmers University of Technology, interviewed in person, 2014-05-19

# 8. Appendix

## Interview questions:

- 1) What competencies do you perceive that the Chinese automotive industry in general lack?
- -Do you think that these are problems that Volvo Trucks have the ability to overcome?
- Do you believe that knowledge transfer can remedy the problems?
- 2) Do you think there is a problem with certain organizational structural/organizational cultural elements in the Chinese automotive industry that hampers innovation, productivity or quality? What adjustments do you think need to be made?
- 3) How do you perceive the problem of high turnover rates among employees in the Chinese automotive industry?
- 4) What would be your action to solve the problem?
- 5) Do you have a problem with retaining personnel in your Chinese operations?
- 6) What do you perceive as the best incentive to attract and retain expertise and important personnel in your business operations in China?
- 7) What do you perceive as the main advantages characteristic of Volvo Group organizational culture that should be transferred to new Joint venture? Are they transferable?
- 8). Are there any certain characteristic of an organization that is important to transfer in order to upgrade innovative competences in the receiving organization?
- 9) Do you perceive that the managers of Western automotive companies have a greater interest than Chinese managers in training their workforce?
- 10) Do you believe that national or business cultures affect the success of knowledge transfer?

- 11) Do you think that having different goals (in the organizations) affect knowledge transfer? (The focus?)
- 12) Do you believe that organizational structure and climate affects absorptive capacity?
- 13) What do you do to increase the absorptive capacity in knowledge receiving partner organizations?
- 14) In your process of creating successful joint ventures in the past. Have sending expat's to the new subsidiary turned out to be an effective strategy? What skills are you looking for in an expat?
- 15) How do you prepare expats for successful knowledge transfer in a new cultural setting?
- 16) Have sending employees of the subsidiary to the headquarters been a part of your strategy?
- 17) Which of the two strategies do you perceive to be most effective?
- 18) What do you perceive is the best way of transferring organizational knowledge?
- 19) What <u>tools</u> are most effective in your opinion when it comes to transferring organizational knowledge? (Modern tools to facilitate knowledge flows between corporate units)
- -How do you compare modern communication tools to face-to-face communication in the effectiveness of knowledge transfer?
- 20) Do you believe that there is any difference in transferring explicit or tacit knowledge?
- 21) Do you see any evident problems with transferring organizational knowledge?
- 22) There is an expression called absorptive capacity which means how ready organizations are at receiving knowledge. What has been done to improve the absorptive capacity in the receiving organization? Educate them in language or processes?
- 23) What can Dong Feng do to facilitate your process of transferring organizational competences and knowledge?

- 24) Do you use collective teaching when transferring knowledge?
- 25) How do you believe the startup-process of the joint venture affects knowledge transfer in the operations in the long-run?
- 26) With the goal to increase efficiency and productivity in the new joint venture, do you perceive that knowledge transfer holds any disadvantages? Do you believe that the process of knowledge transfer is taken at the expense of individual learning and organization memory (changing working structures?) Is it worth costs?
- 27) Do you perceive that there is a mismatch between Chinese graduate and the needs of the automotive industry? If yes, what could be done to better match the two?
- 28) Do you have one general assumption about what is the main key to upgrade the Chinese automotive industry's competences?